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FISCAL YEAR 2014 CHAIRMAN'S LETTER TO STOCKHOLDERS

Frequency Electronics is widely recognized as the world leader in high precision timing
and frequency technologies essential for satellite payloads and secure communications
systems. Our Company has made historic contributions to the development of US
space and communications resources and has received over 100 awards of excellence
for achievements in high perfformance timing and microwave subsystems for
commercial and military satellites and many DOD programs. Frequency's core
technology also has a distinguished legacy of deployment in our nalion's secure
communication networks. Public and private communication networks, now
predominantly GPS-dependent, are highly vulnerable to being jammed or spoofed. QOur
products can upgrade these networks more quickly and at a lower cost compared to
developing new communications platforms. As a result, today we have two very large
opportunities o exploit over the next several years:

1. Increase the portion of satellite payloads which we supply to major satellite
integrators.

2. Provide precision timing products to protect security for critical federal and local
government, emergency and commercial communication networks.

Our customers are looking to us to meet the demanding requirements presented by
these extraordinary business opportunities.

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Total revenues for Fiscal 2014 increased to $71.4 million. This is the highest revenue
yet to be realized by Frequency. We also recorded an increase in profitability and
operating cash flow, all in a period of decline and delay in DOD funding. Satellite
payloads at FEI-NY continued to dominate our results, rising to 60% of consolidated
revenues. Our satellite product sales consisted only of legacy products based on
existing designs and enhancements that are already operating in space with an
unparalleled performance history. Sales for non-space US Government end use were
approximately 20% of total sales. MNetwork infrastructure and other industrial
applications comprised the remaining 20% of revenues. We targeted internal R&D
funding for next generation space products that meet the demand to “do more with
less.” These are the new receiver and up/down converter products with a significant
improvement in size, weight and cost which will result in our gaining larger portions of
payloads for US Government and commercial satellites. Our Elcom subsidiary
continued to make important engineering contributions to these key, next generation
products. We also made substantial capital investments to increase our production
throughput. Operating losses recorded at our Zyfer, Gillam, and FEI-Asia subsidianies
were more than offset by profits from our space business.



LooKING AHEAD

Satellite payloads will again be the dominant source of revenues in Fiscal 2015. We will
continue to focus on timely deliveries for existing space contracts which is a prerequisite
to winning much larger contract awards this year. In connection with our major
opportunity to provide products that maintain security for communication networks, FEI-
Zyfer has received initial funding and begun work on a vital US Government initiative to
protect secure communications assets from jamming and spoofing. We anticipate
significant additional activities will be directed to this area of our business this year. Our
Gillam and Elcom subsidiaries are addressing large potential markets in addition to their
intercompany support of other FEI segments. We anticipate FEl-Asia will make a
material contribution to higher consolidated revenues and profitability in this current
fiscal year. Finally, we will intensify our efforts aimed at acquisitions, partnering, and
merger, to accelerate exploitation of the opportunities in satellite payloads and secure
communications plus many other commercial and US Government/DOD applications.

In closing, our officers, directors, and employees have again earned a very real “thank
you" for their thoughtful and well-executed efforts that have produced our highest-ever
revenues and another very successful year for FEI. Thanks also to our shareholders,
whose support continues to be a very real incentive as we work to build Frequency's
business throughout each year. The future offers very strong opportunities for us, and
we look forward to making these opportunities produce very real benefits for our
shareholders.

Ny, 7.

JOSEPH P. FRANKLIN
Major General, US Army (Retired)
Chairman of the Board



Financial
Highlights

Market
Prices of
Common
Stock

For the years ended April 30: 2014 2013
Revenues........cccoceviemrrnsnsnnnnnnns 571,550,000 $68,932,000
Net INCOME ...cccvvvviismvinsnnnnnnnnn. 94,040,000 $3,686,000
Earnings per share (diluted) ......... $0.46 $0.43
Average number of common and

common eguivalent shares (diluted)d,816,957 8,604,651
At April 30:
Working Capital .........cccvenvvvennnn.. 78,165,000 71,689,000
Current REtio......cocvvvneiiinnniianeins 9.1 t01 8.7t
Total ASSEIS.......ccevvvecvvnincninne... 5119,461,000 108,900,000
Stockholders” Equity $8E,346,000 $82,452,000

The common stock of the Company is listed on the NASDAQ Global

Market under the symbol “FEIM"

Fiscal Quarter High Sale
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Fiscal Year 2014 Revenues by Market Area
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FART |

ltem 1. Business
GEMERAL DISCUSSION

Freguency Elecironics, Inc. (zometimes referred 1o as "Registrant”, "Frequency Electronics” or the
"Company") is a world leader in precision time and frequency technology which is employed in
commercial, government, Command, Control, Communication, Computer, Inteligence, Security and
Reconnaiszance ("C4I15R") and other military electronic systems. [tz technology is used for a wide range
of terresirial and zpace applications.

Unless the context indicates olherwise, references lo the Registrant or the Company are o
Frequancy Electronics, Inc. and s subsidiaries. References to “FEI" are Io the parenl company alona
and do not refer 1o any of the subsidiaries. Freguency Electronics, a Delaware corporation, has ils
principal executive office at 55 Charles Lindbergh Boulevard, Milchel Field, Mew York 1158583, s
lelephone number is 516-794-4500 and its wabsile i= www frequencyeleclnonics. com.

Fraquency Electronics was founded in 1961 as a research and development firm generaling
proprietary precision me and frequency lechnology primarnly under confracts for end-use by the Unilad
Slates ("U.5.") Governmenl. In the mid-1930's, the Company evolved into a designer, developer and
manufaciurer of state-of-the-ar products for bolh commercial and governmeant end-use. The Company’s
prasant mission i 1o be the world leader in providing precision time and low phase noize frequency
generation systems, from 1 Hz to 46 GHz for space and other challenging environments. The Company's
lechnology s the key elemant in enhancing the functionality and performance of many alacironic
syslems.

MARKETS

The Company's dominant business area is salellite payloads, a market in which it has a unique
legacy of providing master timing sysiems, power converters, and frequency generation, synthesis and
distribution systems. It is currently addressing new opporunities in frequency converters, fransmitters
and receivers, representing a significant increase in the potential revenue for FEI products on any one
salelite. These products support primary and hosted payloads for both commercial and LS.
Government end-use. Currently, approximately one thousand satellites with varying remaining years of
useful life are operating in High/Geostationary, Medium and Low Earth Orbits. This number of
operational satellites is expected to continue to grow over the next ten years as many new satellites are
addad and alder ones are replaced,

The Company's producis support mulliple C4I1SR counter measures and additicnal defense
elecironic applications for the U.S. Government on land, sea and air-bome platforms. Eecently identified
threats to the communication capabilties of U.S, Government facilifies through jamming or “spoofing”
GPS signals may be mitigated by the Company's technologies. High precision, ruggedized clocks
combined with specialized software are essential for communication and operational security.

Commercial markets include network infrasiructure and other industrial uses, The Company’s
products suppor precise signal synchronization in mebile and wireline communication netwarks fo
maintain quality of service, Hs producis suppor expanded bandwidth and security in public and
enterprise networks. The vast world-wide wireline nefwork infrasiructure incorporates thouwsands of
central offices which provide network infegrity and interconnectivity. The Company provides remate
terminal wnits ("RTUs"} for management of nefworks such as power grids and gas lines as well as
specialized timing fechnology for oil and gas exploration,

To address these markets, the Company has several corporate enfities which operate under three
reportable segments primarily based on the geographic locations of its subsidiaries.

1.  EEI-NY The Company's satellite payload products for U.S. Government and commercial satellite
programs are designed, developed and manufactured at its Long Island, New York facility. At this
lzcation the Company alzo applies its technology and legacy to products for the LS. military and
other W3, Government agencies, as well as products for cerain terrestrial commercial
communications and other industrial applications.



Frequency Electronics, Inc. Asia ("FEl-Asia”) was established in fiscal vear 2002 to be the
Company's Asia-based low cost manufacturer of certain commercial communications products used
primarily in the wireless and wireline markets. FEl-Asia is located in the Free-Trade Zone in Tianjin,
China,

In February 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of FEI-Elcom Tech, Inc. {"FEI-Elcom™)
which designs and manufaciures EF microwave devices and subsystems up to 46 GHz including
fast switching, ulira low phase noise synthesizers, up-down converiers, receivers, ceramic resonant
ozcillators and dielectric resonant oscillators.  These insfruments and components are critical for
communication, surveillance, signal intelligence, automatic testing, satellite ground stations and
satellite payloads. FEI-Elcom’s EF microwave technology has also been ulilized to develop new
products for application in the Company's satellite payload area.

2. Gilllam-FElI - The Company acguired its Belgian subsidiary, Gillam-FEI, s.a. ("Gillam-FEI"} in
Sepltember 2000. Gillam-FEI develops and manufaciures products for various network management
and synchronization systems for different industries, utilities and telecommunications providers in
Eurcpe, Africa, the Middle East and Asia.

3.  FEl-Zyfer - Precision time and frequency products that incorporate global positioning syslems
("GP3") technology are manufaciured by the Company's subsidiary FEI-Zyfer, Inc. (“FEI-Zyfier”),
which was acquired in fiscal year 2004, FEl-Zyfer's GPS capability complements the Company’s
exisling technologies and permits the combined entities to provide a broader range of embedded
syslems for a varety of timing functionz and anti-spoofing ("SAASM™) applications. FEI-Zyfer also
provides sales and support in the U.S. for the Company’s wireling telecommunications family of
products.

For additional information about these reporable segments, see “ltem 1. Business — Raporlable
Segments and Products.”

In addition Io ils subsidianes, the Company made a strategic invesiment in Morion, Ine. ("Monon®), a
Fussian crystal oscillalor manufaciurer located in SL Petersburg, Russia. The Company's cwnership of
4.6% of the oulslanding shares of Morion's common slock parmits the Company 1o secure a cosl-
effective source for high precision guarlz resonators and crystal oscillaters. The Morion investment is
accounted for under the cost method. For more informalion regarding the Company's investmant in
Morion, see Nole 10 to Consolidated Financial Statements.

FISCAL YEAR 2014 SIGMIFICANT EVENT
Revolving Credit Agreement.

On Jume &, 2013, the Company obtained a five-year revolving credit facility (the "Facility™) from
JPMorgan Chase Bank, M.A. ("JPMorgan”™) pursuant o a credit agreement (the "Credit Agreement”)
between the Company and JPMaorgan. The maximum aggregate amount of the Facility is $25.0 million,
of which the Company immediately bormowed $7.2 million, using the proceeds to repay the outstanding
balance under the 9.2 millicn line of credit with another financial instifution which formery managed a
subsiantial porion of the Company's investment porifolio.  During fiscal year 2014, the Company
borrowed an additional $2.9 million primarily to fund the acquisition of manufacturing equipment to meet
increased production requirements, Addilional proceeds from the Facility may be used for working capital
and to finance acquisitions, For a full descriplion of the Facility, see Mote 7 io the Consolidated Financial
Statements,

T T F

The Company operates under three reporiable segments, primarily aligned with the gecgraphical
locations of its subsidiaries: (1) FEI-NY, (2) Gillam-FEI; and (3) FEI-Zyfer. Within each segment the
Company designs, develops, manufactures and markets precision time and frequency conirol products
for different markeis as described below. The Company's Chief Executive Officer measures segment
performance based on total revenues and profits generated by each geographic center rather than on the
specific types of cusiomers or end-users, Consequently, the Company delermined that the segmants
indicated above appropriately reflect the way the Company's management views the business, The FEI-
MY segment, which operates out of the Company's Long Island, Mew York headguarters facility also



includes the operations of the Company’s wholly-cwned subsidiaries, FEI-Asia and FEI-Elcom. FEl-Asia
functions as a manufacturing facility for FEI-MNY and other segments with minimal sales to outside
customers. FEI-Elcom, in addifion to its own product line, provides design and technical suppeort for the
FEI-MNY segment's satellite business. The producis manufactured by the FEI-NY segment are principally
marketed to the commercial and U5, Government satelliie markets, to other U.S. Depariment of Defense
("DO0D7) programs and to wireless communications networks., The Gillam-FEI segment operates out of
Eelgium and France and designs, develops and manufaciures products for network synchronization and
miznitoring. s products are currently sold primarily o non-U.3. customers, The primary business of the
FEI-Zyfer segment, which operates out of California, is the design and manufacture of products which
incorporate GPS technologies. FEI-Zyfer sells iis products fo both commerzial and LS. Government
cusiomers, collaborates with other FEI segments on joint product development aclivities and provides
sales and support for netwark synchronization products.

During fiscal years 2014 and 2013, approximately 78% and 76%, respectively, of the Company’s
consolidated revenues were from products sold by the FEI-NY segment. Sales by Gillam-FE| were
approximately 14% and 17% of consolidated revenues for fiscal vears 2014 and 2013, respectively, In
fiscal years 2014 and 2013, sales for the FEl-Zyfer segment were 11% and 15% of consolidated
revenues, respectively. (The sum of annual sales percentages exceeds 100% due to intersegment
sales.)

Consolidated revenues include zales to end-users in countries located outside of the WS, During
both fiscal years 2014 and 2013, foreign sales comprised 26% of consolidated revenues. For segment
information, see Note 14 to the Consclidated Financial Statements.

FEI-NY SEGMENT:

The Company provides precision time, frequency generation and synchronization products and
subsyslams that are found en-board satallites, in ground-based communication stations, and imbedded in
moving platforms operated by the U.S. miltary. The Company has made a substantial invesiment in
resaarch and development lo apply ils core tlechnologies to satellita payvloads, non-spaca DOD programs
and nebwork infrastructure markals. Revenues from salellite payloads, bolh for commercial and LS.
Government applications have increased in recent years while the porion of network infrastruciura sales
was reduced. The Company expects to continue to generale substantial revenues from deployment of
new and replacement satellites and other U.S. Government/DOD applicalions including sales of
ruggedized subsystems for moving platforms of the LS. milltary.

Satellite Payloads

The use of satellites launched for communications, navigation, weather forecasting, video and data
fransmissions and Intermet access has expanded the nead o transmit increasing amounis of voice, videa,
and data to earth-based receivers. This requires more precise timing and frequency control at the
safellite. The Company manufactures the master liming systems (quariz, rubidium and cesium) and other
significant timing and frequency generation products for communication satellites, and many of the
Company's other space assemblies are used onboard spacecraft for command, control and power
distribution, Efficient and reliable DC-DC power converters are also manufactured for the Company’s
own assemblies and as sland-alone products for space applications. The Company's oven-controllad
guartz crystal oscillators are cost-effective precision clocks suited for high-end performance required in
salellite transmissions, airborne lelephony and geophysical survey positioning syslems. Mewly
developed and upgraded frequency generators, synthesizers, and up/down converters and receivers
have augmented the Company’s product offerings and positioned the Company to provide a greater
share of a typical satellite’s payload. Commercial satellite programs which utilize the Company's space-
gualified products include Irdium NEXT, MexSat, MSY, ICD, TerreStar, EchoStar, Intalsal, Inmarsal and
numarous olhers.

In the years ahead, the Company expects that the US DOD will require more secure
communication capabilties, more assels in space and greater bandwidth, The Global Positioning
Satellite System, the MILSTAR Satellite System and the AEHF Satellte System are examples of the
programs in which the Company participates - programs which management believes are important to the
success of the U.S. Government's security, communication and inteligence needs. The Company has



manufaciured the master clock for the Trident missile, the basic timing system for the Voyager | and
Voyager |l deep space exploratory missions and the quariz timing system for the Space Shuttle. The
Company's product offerings for U.S. Government salellite programs are similar in design and function to
those used on commercial satellites, as described above.

LS. Government- Non-space:

In addition to space-based programs, the Company's proprietary products have been uzed in
airborne and ground-bazed guidance, navigalion, communications, radar, sonar survelllance and
electronic countermeasure and timing systems. The Company has developed and patented a low g-
sensitivity (gravity) technology which offers a 100-fold improvement in performance under shock, vibration
and other environmental effects. Producls are built in accordance with DOD standards and are in use on
many of the U5, Government's important military applications. The Company anticipates that adeguate
funds will be provided by the U.S. Government to ensure that these programs are sustaimed.

FEI-Elcom designs and manufaclures RF microwave devices and subsystems up lo 468 GHz
including fast swilching, ultra low phase noise synthesizers, up-down converters, receivers, ceramic
resonant oscillators and dielectric resonant oscillators. These instruments and components are imporiant
for communication, surveillance, signal intelligence, aulomatic lesting, satellite ground stations and
satellite payloads.

The Company's sales on U.S. Governmant programs for both space and non-space applications are
genarally made under fixed price contracls either direclly with U.5. Government agencies or indiractly
through subcontracts intended for government end-usa. The price paid o the Company i% nol subject lo
adjusiment by reason of the costs incurred by the Company in the perormance of the contract, excepl for
cosls incurred due 1o contract changes ordered by the customer. These conlraclts are negotiated on
lerms under which the Company bears the risk of cost overruns and derives the benelil from cost
savings.

In March 2013, the Budget Control Act of 2011 went into effect to reduce the federal daficit by a
process known as sequestration. As a result, subsequent annual budgets proposed by the federal
administration and Congress may include lower spending for U.S. military programs. As indicated above,
many of the pregrams and platforms for which the Company supplies products and syslems, are used by
the LS. Government for maintaining secure communicaltions world-wide, for oblaining vital intelligence
and for enabling precision targeting capabilities. It is the belief of managemant that the fulure success of
the mission of the U.S. military and intelligence gathering communily s dependent on successiul and
limely deployment of these systems. Thus, the Company anticipates thal adequate funds will be provided
by the U.5. Government lo ansure thatl the programs are compleled. It is possible, however, thal some
programs or product sales could be slowed or delayed due to U.S. Governmeant spending constrainis.

Recently the Company has also received several cosl-plus-fee confracts. Under these contracts,
the Company may be able to recover all of its direct and indirect costs related to the programs plus a pre-
determined fee. In the event of substantial cost overruns, the fee may be reducad.

Megoliations on U.S. Government confracts are sometimes based in pard on Cedificales of Currant
Costs, An inaccuracy in such cedificates may entitle the government to an approprale recovery, From
fime o ime, the Defense Contracis Audit Agency (TDCAA") audits the Company's accounis with respect
io thesa contracis,

All U35, Government end-use confracts are subject o termination by the purchaser for the
convenience of the U3, Government and are subject fo various other provisions for the protection of the
.5, Government. In the event of such termination, the Company is enfifled to receive compensation as
provided under such confracts and in the applicable U5, Government regulations.,

Metwork Infrastructure

The development of new and enhanced technologies brings expanded and more reliable
telecommunications and Intermet services to the public. As digital cellular systems and Personal
Communication Systems ("PCS") networks grow they require more baze stations to meet the demand for
better conneclivity, higher data rates and dependable high quality for cell phone service. Cellular
infrastructure integrators and onginal equipment manufaciurers, consisting of some of the world's largest



ielecommunicalions companies, are building oul existing networks even as they develop new
technologies for fulure systems.

In conjunclion with its European subsidiary, Gillam-FEI, the Company has developed state-cf-the-art
network synchronization eqguipment. These products are intended to provide synchronization and timing
references for communication and enterprise networks within the U5, and overseas.

GILLAM-FEI SEGMENT:

Gillam-FEI exiends the Company's compelencies inlo network synchronization, nebwork
managemeant, and specialized test equipment. \With the advent of new digital broadband transmission
lechnologies, reliable synchronization remains the warranty o quality of service for telecommunications
operators. Gillam-FEI is among the world leaders in the field of wirelineg synchronization technology and
its products are targeted towards lelecommunication operators and nabwork equipment manufaciurars
that ulilize modular and flexible platforms o build reliable digital-network-systems  worldwide.
Telecommunications operalors such as Belgacom, France Telecom, Telefonica and other service
providers are among Gillam-FEI's major customers. Gillam-FEI also provides ancillary products intendad
for deployment in the European, Middle Eastern, Asian and African markels. Included in its family of
products is a remole lerminal unit ("GRTU") that Gillam-FEI developed in concert with a major Franch
eleciric utility company. The GRETU is intended to monitor the electrical current in a power grid and relay
the information to a central location. Gillam-FEI intends to market this product to other electric wtility
companies in projects to create “smat” grids.

FEI-ZYFER SEGMENT:

FEI-Zyfer designs, develops and manufactures products for precision time and frequency generation
and synchronization, primarily incorporating GPS technology. FEI-Zyfer's products make use of both “in-
the-clear® civil and “crypto-secured” military signals from GPS. In most cases, FEI-Zyfer's products are
integrated info communications systems, computer nelworks, test equipment, and military command and
contral terminals for ground and satellite link applications. More than 60% of revenues are derived from
sales where the end user is the U.S. Government. FEI-Zyfer's products are an important exlansion of
FEI's core product line, specifically in the area of GPS capabilities. In addition, FEI-Zyfer provides sales
and suppor for the Company's family of wireline telecommunications and derivalive products.

BACKLOG

As of April 30, 2014, the Company's consolidated backlog amounted to approximately $48 million
compared fo approximately $51 million at the end of the prior fiscal year, Approximately 70% of the
current backlog is expected to be filled during the Company's fiscal year ending April 30, 2015, Includad
in the backlog at Aprl 30, 2014 is approximately $3.5 million under cost-plus-fee contracts which the
Company believes represent firm commitments from iis cusiomers for which the Company has not
received full funding fo date. The Company excludes from backlog any confracts or awards for which it
has not received authonzation o proceed, On fixed price confracts, the Company excludes any unfundad
portion. The Company expects any partially funded contracis to become fully funded over time and will
add the additional funding to its backlog at that time. The backlog is subject to change by reason of
several factors including possible cancellation of orders, change orders, terms of the contracts and other
factors beyond the Company's control.  Accordingly, the backleg is nol necessarily indicative of the
revenues or profits (losses) which may be realized when the results of such contracts are reported.

CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company markets its producis both directly and through approximately 30 independent sales
representative organizations located in the UL.S., Europe and Asia. 3ales to non-LL3. end-users, which
includes the revenues of its overseas subsidiaries, tolaled approximately 26% of net revenues in both
fizcal years 2014 and 2013,

The Company's products are sold to both commercial and governmental customers. For the years
ended April 30, 2014 and 2013, approximately 54% and 62%, respectively, of the Company's sales were
made under contracts to the U5, Government or subcontracts for U.S. Government end-use.

During fiscal years 2014 and 2013, Boeing Corporation ("Boeing™), Morhrop Grumman Corporation
(“Morthrop™), and Thales Alenia Space each accounted for more than 10% of FEI-NY segment revenues.



Dwring fizscal year 2014, Boeing and Morhrop also accounted for more than 10% of consolidated
revenues and, in fiscal year 2013, revenues from each of the three corporations exceeded 10% of
consolidated revenues.

During fiscal years 2014 and 2013, Belgacom was a major customer of the Gillam-FEI segment,
accounting for more than 10% of that segment’s revenues in each year.

During fiscal year 2014, L-3 Communicalions was a major customer of the FEI-Zyfer segment
accounting for more than 10% of the segment's revenues. During fiscal vear 2013, AT&T Inc. and
Raytheon Corporalion each accounted for more than 10% of FEI-Zyfer's revenuas.

The loss by the Company of any one of these cuslomers could have a material adverse affect on the
Company's business. The Company believes iz relationship with these companies to be mutually
salisfactory and is nol aware of any prospect for the cancellation or significant reduction of any af ils
commearcial or exisling U5, Governmenl contracls.

The Company purchases a variety of components such as transistors, resistors, capacitors,
connectors and diodes for use in the manufacture of its products. The Company is not dependent upon
any ona supplier or source of supply for any of its component par purchases and maintains alternative
sources of supply for all of its purchasad componants. The Company has found ils suppliers ganerally to
be reliable and price-competitiva.

R H A FMEMNT

The Company's technological leadership continues to be an imporiant factor to suppor future growth
in revenues and eamings. The Company has focused its internal research and development efforts on
improving the core physics and elecironic packages in iis time and frequency products, conducting
research to develop new fime and freguency technologies, improving product manufacturability by
seeking to reduce iis production cosis through product redesign and process improvements and other
mieasures to fake advantage of lower cost components,

The Company continues to focus a significant portion of its own resources and efforts on developing
hardware for saleliite (commercial and U.S. Government) and terresirial commercial communications
systems, including wireless, wirgline and GPS-related systems. During fiscal yvears 2014 and 2013, the
Company expended $5.8 million and $5.7 million of its own funds, respectively, on such research and
development aclivity. See "“ltem 7. Managemeni's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.” During fiscal years 2014 and 2013, some of the Company's development
respurces were applied fo cerain cost-plus-fee contracis and the design-stage of fixed-price satellite
payload programs. As a result, a portion of the Company's development efforis were customer-fundad
and the cosis appear in cost of revenues resulting in reduced internal research and development
spending. For fiscal year 2015, the Company is targeting to spend between $5.0 million and $8.0 million
on internal research and development projects. The aciual amount spent in fiscal year 2015 will depend
on market condifions and identification of new opportunities,

FATENTS AND LICENSES

The Company believes that its business is generally not dependent on patent or license protection.
Rather, it iz primarily dependent upon the Company's technical competence, the gquality of itz products
and itz prompt and responsible contract performance. However, emplovees working for the Company
assign all rights to inventions to the Company and the Company presently holds such patents and
licenses, In certain limited circumstances, the U.S. Government may use or pemit the use by the
Company's compelitors of cerain patents or licenses the government has funded. During fizcal year
2003, the Company received a broad and significant patent for new, proprietary quarz oscillator
iechnology which the Company intends to exploit in both legacy and new applications. In 2008, the
Company obtained a basic patent for itz low g-sensilivity technology which management believes will
permit greatly enhanced performance of devices on moving platforms and under externally imposed
shock or vibration,

COMPETITION

The Company experences compeliion in all areas of i1z business. Many of the Company's
compelitors are larger, have greater financial resources and have larger research and development and
marketing staffs. The Company has a sirong history of competing successiully in this environment due o
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the quality, reliability and outstanding record of performance its products have achieved. The Company
competes primarily on the basis of the accuracy, performance and reliability of its products, the ability of
its products to function under severe condilions, such as in space or in other extremely hostile
envirenments, and the Company's track record of prompt and responsive confract performance and
technical compeience. The Company has a unigque and broad product line which includes quartz,
rubidium, and cesium based fiming references and specialized RF microwave technology. With respect
iz very high precision products, the Company encounters fewer competitors than it does for lower
precision products for which there are a significant number of suppliers.

The Company's principal compefition for space products is the in-house capability of its major
customers such as Boeing, Morthrop, Lockhesd Martin and Space Systems Loral as well as a number of
other firms capable of providing high-reliabilty microwave frequency generators.  With respect to non-
space products, instrumenis and systems for timing and synchronization, the Company compates with
large domestic companies such as Agilent Technologies, EG&G, Inc., Microsemi Corporalion through its
recent acquisition of Symmetricom, Inc., and Yeciron, Inc., a division of Dover Corp,  The Company also
competes against multiple foreign entities including Indian, Korgan and other Asian enierprises such as
the Chinese company, Huawei. In Europe large compeiitors include Siemens, Schneider Eleciric and
Qacilloquariz, a division of ADVA Optical Netwaorking SE,

The Company has successfully outsourced cerain manufacturing processes fo third parties and to
its wholly-owned subsidiary, FEl-Asia in Tianjin, China and fo Russia-based Maorion, in which the
Company is & minority shareholder. The Company conducts this cuisourcing to maintain a competiitive
position on cost while adhering to its high guality standards. The Company believes its ability to abtain
raw materials, manufaciure finished producis, integraie them inio systems and sub-systems and interface
these sysiems with highly sophisticated end-user applications provides a sirong competifive edge.

EMPLOYEES

The Company employs approximately 430 full-time persons worldwide. Mone of the U.S., Eurcpean
or Chinese employees is represented by labor unions.

OTHER ASPECTS
The Company's business is nol zeasonal although it expects to experience some fluctuation in

revenues during the second fiscal quarter as a result of summer holiday pericds. Mo unusual working
capital requirements exist.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPAMNY

The executive officers hold office until the annual meeting of the Board of Directors following the
annual meeting of slockholders, subject to earlier remaoval by the Board of Direclors.

The names of all executive officers of the Company and all positions and offices with the Company
which they presently hold are as follows:

Josaph P. Franklin - Chairman of the Board of Directors

Martin B. Bloch - Prasident, Chiaf Exacutive Officer and Diractar

Markus Hechler - Exaculive Vice President, President of FEI Governmant Syslams,
Inc. and Assistant Secretary

Dlaandro Mancini - Senior Vice President, Business Developmeant

Steven Strang - President, FEI-Zyfer

James Davis = Frasident, FEI-Elcom Tech

Leonard Martire = Vice President, Program Management

Thomas McClelland - Vice President, Advanced Development

Adrian Lalicala - Vice President, RF & Microwave Systems

Alan Miller - Secretary/Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

Mane of the officers and directors is related.

Joseph P. Franklin, age 80, has served as a Direclor of the Company zince March 1980, In
December 1993 he was elected Chairman of the Board of Direclors. He alzo served as Chief Executive
Officer from December 1953 through Oclober 1998 and as Chief Financial Officer from September 1996
through October 1998, From August 1987 to Movember 1983, he was the Chief Execulive Officer of
Franklin 5.A., a Spanish business consulting company located in Madrid, Spain, specializing in joint
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ventures, and was a director of several prominent Spanish companies. General Franklin was a Major
General in the LS, Army until he retired in July 1987,

Martin B. Bloch, age 78, haz been a Director of the Company and of itz predecessor since 1961,
Mr. Bloch is the Company's President and Chief Executive Officer and has held such positions since
inception of the Company, except for the period from December 1993 through Oclober 1998 when
General Franklin held the CEQ position.  Previcus to forming the Company, Mr. Bloch zerved as chief
elecironics engineer of the Electronics Division of Bulova Watch Company.

Markus Hechler, age 68, joined the Company in 1967. He was elected 1o the position of Executive
Vice President in February 1999, prior to which he zerved as Vice President, Manufacturing since 1982,
In October 2001, he was named President of the Company's subsidiary, FEI Government Systems, Inc.
He has served as Aszsistant Secretary since 1978,

Dleandro Mancini, age 85, joined the Company in August 2000 as Vice Presidenl, Business
Development and was promoled 1o Senior Vice President in 2010, Pror 1o joining the Company, Mr.
Mancini served from 1928 as Vice President, Salez and Marketing at Salellite Transmission Systems, Inc.
and from 1995 o 1998 as Vice President, Business Development at Cardion, Inc., a Semens A G.
company. From 1987 to 1995, he held the position of Vice President, Engineering at Cardion, Inc.

Steven Strang, age 50, was named Prasident of FEI-Zyfer, Inc., effective May 1, 2005. Prawiously,
Mr. Strang was Execulive Vica President of this subsidiary and its predecessor companias whera he has
sarved for 20 years in various technical and managemant positions.

James Davis, age 61, is the President of FEI-Elcom Tech, Inc. which the Company acquired in
February 2012, Mr. Davis was named an officer of the Company in Cctober 2013, Mr. Davis became the
prasident of Elcom Technologies, Inc., the pre-acquisition company, on September 20, 2007, Prior {o
joining FEI-Elcom, Mr. Davis held leadership positions at other technology companies including General
Manager of Hewlett Packard's (Agilent) Semiconductor Systems Center, Vice President and General
Manager of Schlumberger Technologies M.A. and Vice President and General Manager of Gretag
Macbeth LLC. Mr. Davis also held the rank of Caplain as a U.S. Army Special Forces Team
Commander,

Leonard Martire, age 77, joined the Company in August 1987 and served as Execulive Vice
Fresident of FEI Microwave, Inc., the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, until May 1893 when he was
elected Vice President, Marketing and Sales. In fiscal year 2007, Mr. Martire assumed the role of Vice
Fresident Pragram Management,

Thomas McClelland, age 53, joined the Company as an engineer in 1884 and was elected Vice

Fresident, Commercial Products in March 1899, In fiscal year 2011, Mr. McClelland’s fitle was maodified
i Vice President Advanced Development to describe his expanded role in the Company.

Adrian Lalicata, age 67, joined the Company in 2006 az Vice President, RF & Microwave Systems.
Frior to joining the Company, Mr. Lalicata served as Vice President of Engineering at Herley-CT1 and
Communication Technigues, a Dover Company. Mr Lalicata has served as Director of Engineering at
Microphase Corp. and Adcomm, Inc. He also held leading engineering positions at Loral Electronic
Systems, Cardion Electronics, and Airbome Instruments Laboratories

Alan Miller, age 635, joined the Company in November 1995 as its corporate controller and was
elected o the position of Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer in October 1998, In May 2010, Mr. Miller
was also named corporate Secretary. Prior o joining the Company, Mr. Miller served as an operations
manager and a consultant to small businesses from 1992 through 1985 and as a Senior Audit Manager
with Emst & Young, LL.P. from 1980 to 1991.

Item 14, Risk Factors

This item is nof required for smaller reporting companies.
Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Mone.
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ltem 2. Properties

The Company operates oul of several facilities located around the world. Each facility is used for
manufaciuring its products and for administrative aclivities. The following table presents the location, size
and terms of cwnershiploccupation:

Location Size (sq. L) D or Leass
Long Island, NY 83,000 Lease
Garden Grove, CA 27,850 Lease
Liege, Belgium 34,000 Own
Chalon Sur Saone, France 5,000 Leasze
Tianjin, China 28,000 Lease
Rockleigh, M. 32,000 Lease

The Company's facility located in Mitchel Figld, Long Island, Mew York, is part of the building that the
Company construcied in 1281 and expanded in 1988 on land leased from Massau Counfy. In January
1988, the Company sold this building and the related land lease o REeckson Associates Realty Corp.
"Reckson™), leasing back the space that it presently ccoupies.

The Company leased its manufacturing and office space from Eeckson under an initial 11-year lease
followed by two five-yvear renewal periods. The Company is currently in the second S-vear renewal period
paying annual rent of $800,000 per year plus its pro rata share of real estate taxes and the costs of
utilities and insurance. The lease will end in January 2018, The leased space is adequate to meet the
Company's domestic operafional neseds which encompass the principal operafions of the FEI-NY
segment and also serves as the Company's world-wide corporate headguarters.

The Garden Grove, California facility iz leased by the Company's subsidiary, FEI-Zyfer, Inc. The
facility consists of a combination office and manufacturing space. The lease, which expires in August
2017, currently requires monthly payments of approximately $29,500 and will increase each year over the
remaining 40 months of the lease term.

The Company's subsidiary, Gillam-FEI, owns a manufacturing and office facility in Liege, Belgium.
Gillam-FEI's French operation leaszes space in Chalon Sur Sacne, France under a S-year lease,
cancelable afier three vears, at an approximate rate of 51,100 per month. These facilities are adeguate
o meet the present and future cperational requirements of Gillam-FEL.

The Tianjin, China facility is the location of the Company's wholly-ownad subsidiary, FEl-Asia. The
subsidiary's office and manufaciuring facility is located in the Tianjin Free-Trade Zone. The lease is
renewable annually with monthly rent of 38,800 through February 2015. The facility is adeguate for the
near-tarm manufaciuring expectations for the Company.

FEI-Elcom operates out of a leased facility located in Rocklaigh, New Jersey. The facility consists of
a combination office and manufacturing space. The lease, which expires in March 2016, requires
menthly payments of $28,000.

ltem 3, Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company is a defendant in litigation arising out of the ordinary course of
business. As of July 21, 2014, the Company iz nol a parly o any material, pending legal proceeding
other than routineg litgation incidental to its business.

Item 4. Mine Safaety Disclosures
Mot applicable.
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FART Il

ltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity. Related Stockholder Matters and |ssuer
Purchaszses of Equity Sacurifia

The Common Stock of the Company is listed on The Masdag Global Market ("MASDAQ") under the
ticker symbol "FEIM.” The following table shows the high and low sale price for the Company's Comman
Stock for the quarters indicated, as reported on the NASDAL,

FISCAL QUARTER HIGH SALE LOWY SALE
2014
FIRST QUARTER $11.00 5946
SECOND QUARTER 12.50 10.12
THIRD QUARTER 133 10.65
FOURTH QUARTER 12.75 10.25
2013 -
FIRST QUARTER §9.50 §7.02
SECOND QUARTER 9.74 839
THIRD QUARTER 9.88 6.71
FOURTH QUARTER 10.25 8.52

Az of July 21, 2014, the approximate number of holders of record of common stock was 700, The
clozing share price of the Company's stock on April 30, 2014 was $10.60. The closing share price of the
Company's stock on July 21, 2014 was $10.88.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board of Direclors reviews the Company's dividend policy at each regular mesting. On
December 12, 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of $0.20 per
share, payable on December 31, 2012 to shareholders of record on December 24, 2012. Accordingly,
the Company paid a cash dividend of $1,684,000 during fiscal year 2013. No dividends weare declared or
paid during fiscal year 2014,

STOCK BUYBACK PEOGRAM

In March 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for up to
$5 million of the Company's outstanding commaon stock. This program does not have an expiration date.
Shares may be purchased in open market purchases, private fransactions or otherwise at such times and
from time fo fime, and at such prices and in such amounts as the Company believes appropriate and in
the best interests of its shareholders. The fiming and volume of repurchases will vary depending an
market conditions and other factors. Purchases may be commenced or suspended at any time without
notice. During fiscal year 2009, the Company repurchased 724 632 shares under the buyback program,
including a block purchase of 815,000 shares from ifs former largest instifutional shareholder, The
average purchase price was $4.29 per share or an aggregate amount of approximately $3.1 million. With
these purchases, the Company has acquired approximately $4 million of its common stock out of the total
authorization of $5 million, The Company did not make any purchases of stock for the treasury during
fiscal years 2014 or 2013,
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EQUITY COMPEMSATION PLAN INFORMATION

Muriber of securities
remaining available for

Mumbsar of sscurilies o Weighled-average Tuluire Esuance under
be isswad Upon exercisa exarcisa price of equity compensabon plans
af sulstanding opfions outstanding oplions (excluding securilies
Hﬂmﬂﬁ' AOTTRIMNE B Z NMBITRNEE & 3 oif] e e 5y 3
{a) (b} ]
Equity Compensation Plans
Approved by Security Holders (1) 1,710,125 3 BED 6,816
Equity Compensation Plans Nal
Approved by Security Holders (1) 50,000 $11.52 -
TOTAL 17e0.125 3 568 816

(1) The Company's equily compensation plans are descrbed in Mole 12 o the Consolidaled
Financial Slatemants.

[ Fi

This item iz not reguired for smaller reporting companies.

Operations
“*Safe Harbor” Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:

The stalements in this Annual Raport on Form 10-K regarding future earnings and oparabions and
other statemeants relating to the future constitute "forward-looking” stalements pursuant 1o the sale harbor
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Forward-looking stalements inharenily
involve risks and uncerainties thal could cause actual resulls 1o differ malenally from the forward-locking
statemants. Factors thatl would cause or confribute 1o such differences include, but are not limiled 1o,
inability o integrate operations and personnal, actions by significant customers or compelilors, genaral
domastic and international economic conditions, consumer spending rends, reliance on key customars,
continued acceptance of the Company's products in the marketplace, compelitive factors, new products
and technological changes, product prices and raw malterial costs, dependence upon third-parly vendors,
compelitive developments, changes in manufactuning and transporation costs, the availability of capital,
and the cutcome of any liigation and arbitration proceedings. The faclors listed above are not
exhaustive. Other zectionz of this Form 10-K include additional factors that could materally and
adversely impact the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, the
Company ocperates in a very competitive and rapidly changing environmenl. Mew faclors emernge from
time to time and it i& not possible for management to predict the impact of all these factors on the
Company's business, financial condition or results of operations or the extent o which any factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual results o differ materially from those contained in any forward-
looking statements. Given these risks and uncerainties, investors should not rely on forward-locking
statements as a prediction of actual resultz. Any or all of the forward-looking statements contained in this
Form 10-K and any other public statement made by the Company or its management may turn out to be
incorrect.  The Company expressly disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-locking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Company's significant accounting policies are described in Mote 1 to the Consolidatad Financial
Slatements. The Company believes its most crtical accounting policies to be the recognition of revenue
and costs on production contracts and the valuation of inventory. Each of these areas reguires the
Company 1o make use of reasonable estimales including astimaling the cost 1o complela a contract, the
realizable value of its invenlory or the market value of s producls. Changes in estimales can have a
material impact on the Company's financial position and resulls of operations.
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Fevenue nition

Eevenues under larger, long-term contracts which generally require billings bazed on achievement
of milestones rather than delivery of product, are reported in operating results using the percentage of
completion method. On fixed-price contracts, which are typical for commercial and LS. Govermment
satellite programs and other long-term LS. Government projects, and which require initial design and
development of the product, revenue is recognized on the cost-to-cost method. Under this method,
revenue is recorded based upon the ratio that incurred costs bear (o total estimated confract costs with
related cost of sales recorded as the costs are incurred. Each month management reviews estimated
contract cosis through a process of aggregating aciual costs incurred and estimaling additicnal costs to
completion based upon the current available information and status of the confract. The effect of any
change in the estimated gross margin percentage for a contract is reflected in revenues in the perod in
which the change is known. Provisions for anficipated losses on contracts are made in the pericd in
which they become determinable,

On production-type orders, revenue is recorded as unitz are delivered with the related cost of sales
recognized on each shipment based upon a percentage of estimated final program costs.

Changes in job perfformance on long-term confracts and production-type orders may resull in
revisions to costs and income and are recognized in the period in which revisions are determined to be
required. Provizions for anticipated losses on customer orders are made in the pericd in which they
become determinable.

For customer orders in the Company’s Gillam-FEI and FEI-Zyfer zegments or smaller confracts or
orders in the FEI-NY segment, sales of products and zervices o customers are reported in operating
rezults based upon (i) shipment of the product or (i) performance of the services pursuant to terms of the
customer order. When payment is contingent upon customer acceptance of the installed system,
revenue is deferred until such acceptance iz received and installation completed.

Costs and Expenses
Contract costs include all direct matenal, direct labor costs, manufacturing overhead and other direct

cosls ralated lo contract performance. Selling, general and administrative costs are charged lo expensa
as incurrad,

Inventory

In accordance with industry praclice, inventoried costs confain amounts relating fo contracts and
programs with long production cycles, a portion of which will nol be realized within one year. Invenlory
write downs are esiablished for slow-moving materials, cbsolete items and costs incurred on programs for
which production-level orders cannol be determined as probable. Such write downs are based upon
management's experence and expectalions for fulure business. Any changes arising from revised
expectations are reflected in cost of sales in the pericd the revision is made.

Marketable S i

All of the Company's investments in marketable securities are Level 1 securities which trade on
public markets and have current prices that are readily available. In general, investments in fixed price
securities are only in the commercial paper of financially sound corporations or the bonds of U.S.
Government agencies. Although the value of such invesimeniz may fluctuate significantly based on
economic factors, the Company's own financial strength enables it to wait for the securities fo either
recover their value or to mature such that any interim unrealized gains or losses are deemed to be
temparary.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The table below =ets forth for the fiscal years ended Aprl 30, 2014 and 2013, the percentage of
consolidated net sales represented by certain items in the Company's consolidated statements of
operations;

2014 2013
Revenues
FEI-NY T7.9% T6.3%
Gillam-FEI 14.0 171
FEI-Zyler 11.2 153
Lass intersegmeant revenuas _ 131} BT
100.0 100.0
Cost of Revenuas _B5.4 _B3EB
Gross Margin 4.6 6.4
Selling and Administrative expenses 18.7 21.3
Fesearch and Development expanses 81 _ 83
Crperating Profit 6.8 6.
Mher Income (Expenses), net 2.0 0.6
Frovision for Income Taxes _13.2) _[2.m
Met Income B -
Revenues
Fizcal years ended April 30,
(in thousands)
Change
2014 2013 5 %
FEI-NY B55,772 $52 567 83205 6%
Gillam-FEI 9,995 11,825 (18307  (15%)
FEI-Zyfer 79490 10,523 (2.533) (24%)

Intersegment sales (2 207) (5.983) 3776
$71,550 FE8.932 52618 4%

Fizcal year 2014 compared 1o fiscal year 2013

For the yvear ended Aprl 30, 2014, revenues from commercial and U5, Governmenl satellile
programs accounted for approximalely 80% of consolidaled revenues and increased by approximately
25% over fiscal year 2013, Revenues on these long-term contracts, which are recorded in the FEI-NY
sagmenl, are recognized primarily under the percentage of completion method. Revenues from non-
space S, GovernmentDOD customers, which are recorded in both the FEI-NY and FEI-Zyler
sagments, accounted for approximately 20% of fiscal vear 2014 consolidated revenues. Such revenues
decreased by approximalely 25% from fiscal year 2013, with some of the decline attributable o
continuing uncertainty regarding the U.S. DOD budget. For the year ended Apnl 30, 2014, tolal revenues
from both salelite and non-space programs for which the US. Government is the end-user wera
approximately 54% of consolidated revenues as compared to 62% the prior fiscal year. This decrease is
primarily due to a higher ratic of commercial satellite confracts that the FEI-NY zegment is working on in
comparizson to prior years. Network infrastruciure and other commercial revenues accounted for
approximately 20% of consclidated revenues and declined by approximately 10% from the prior fizcal
year. Metwork infrastructure and other commercial revenues are recorded in all three segments although
the largest network infrastruciure sales volume iz recorded in the Gillam-FEI and FEI-Zyfer segments and
accounted for most of the year-over-year revenue declines in those two segments.

Fizcal year 2013 compared 1o fiscal year 2012

For the year ended Aprl 30, 2013, FEI-NY revenuas from commercial and U.S. Governmani
salellite programs increased 11% over the prior year. Revenues from these programs accounted for 50%
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of fiscal year 2013 consolidated sales, approximately the same ratic as for fiscal vear 2012, Revenues
on these long-term confracts are recognized primarily under the percentage of completion method. For
the wvear ended Aprl 30, 2013, sales from the non-space WS, Government/DOD business area
accounted for more than 25% of consolidated revenues and increased by more than 40% over fiscal year
2012, This increase is due to the impact of FEI-Elcom which was acquired by the Company in late fiscal
yvear 2012 and is part of the FEI-NY segment. For the year ended April 20, 2013, tofal revenues from
both satellite and non-space programs for which the LS. Government is the end-user, accounted for
B2% of consolidated revenues compared to approximately 45% in the prior fiscal yvear. Such revenues
are recorded in the FEI-Zyfer segment as well as FEI-NY {including FEI-Elcom). For the year ended April
30, 2013, network infrastructure and other commercial sales, which are recorded in all three segments,
accounted for approximately 25% of consolidaied revenues as compared fo approximately 30% of
revenues in the prior fiscal year. MNelwork infrasiructure sales were 8% lower in fiscal year 2013
compared to fiscal year 2012 and is the partial cause of decreased revenue at the FEI-Zyfer and Gillam-
FEI segments. The decling in revenues at the Gillam-FEI segment is also partially attributable to a 6%
year-over-year decreasa in the rate of exchange between the U5, dollar and the eura. The revenue
decling at FEI-Zyfer is also due to delays in orders from U5, Government customers as a result of recant
U.5. budget issues,

Based on the Company’s current backlog, over three-fourths of which represent satellite payload
business, and the potential for addilional new orders, fiscal year 2015 revenues are expected to grow.
Satellite payload revenues will remain the dominant portion of the Company’s business and represent a
large opportunity for long-term growih, benefiting from both commercial and U5, Government programs
Fiscal year 2015 revenues from U3, Government/DOD non-space, network infrastruciure and ather
commercial programs, are expecied {o remain in approximately the same range as realized in fiscal year
2014,

Gross Margin
Fizcal vears ended April 30,
{im thousands)
Chamge
2014 2013 $ %
24,750 325110 [F360) (19%:)
GM Rate 34 6% 35 4%

For the vear ended April 30, 2014, gross margin and the gross margin rate decreased from that of
the prior fizscal year. Several factors confributed to the fiscal yvear 2014 resull, including highar than
anticipaled engineenng design and produclion cosls both at FEI-NY and Gillam-FEI and lower sales
volume at FEI-Zyfer which increased unabsorbed overhead cosis at that reporting zegment. Increasad
cosls relaled o improving production capacity to meel expecled future demand al FEI-NY plus inventory
wiite downs of approximately 3500,000 as well az differing product mix alzo impacted gross mangin rates.

For the year ended April 30, 2013 gross margin was reduced by $1.4 million (2% of consolidated
revenues) as a result of the wrile down of cerain inventory recorded in the Gillam-FEI segmant dua o
lack of certainty regarding the realizability of such inventory. Based on slower than anticipated rollout of
implamentation of the French governmeant's plans 1o initiate a “smart grid,” the Company has less wisibility
regarding the probable schadule for oblaining production-level orders which are now anlicipated 1o occur
no aarlier than fiscal yvear 2015, Improved gross marging from salellite payload revenuas in tha FEI-NY
sagmenl were offset by historically lower gross marging at FEI-Elcom. Gross margin rales in the FEI-
Zyler and Gillam-FEI segments ware also lower on reduced sales. During the fiscal yvear endad April 30,
2013, cost of sales included approximately 32.4 million of inventory write downg, including the Gillam-FEI
inventory write down, which reduced gross margin rates by 3.4% in fiscal year 2013

Taking into consideration only the current mix of programs and orders in its backlog, the Company
expects its fiscal year 2015 gross margin rate to be less than its target rate of 40%. As revenues
increase in future periods, the Company expects to realize a higher gross margin as more of its fixed
cosls are covered.
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Selling and Administrative Expenses
Fiscal vears endead April 30,

{in thousands)
Change
2014 2013 % %
$14, 064 14,704 (S640)  (4%)

In the fiscal years ended April 20, 20714 and 2013, selling and adminisirative costs were 20% and
21%, respeciively, of consolidated revenues., Fiscal year 2014 incenfive compensation expense
decreased from the prier year due to reduced operating profils. Selling costs were also lower but partially
offset by increased deferred compensation cosis. For the years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013, salling
and administrative expenses include sfock compensation expense of $676,000 and $537,000,
respectively. The Company expects fiscal year 2015 selling and administrative expenses to be incurraed
at approximately the same rate relative to revenues.

Eesearch and Development Expenses
Fizcal vears ended April 30,

{im thousands)
Chamge
2014 2013 $ %
35,813 Fo.727 bt 2%

Research and development ("RE&D™) expendilures represent invesiments intended to keep the
Company's products at the leading edge of time and frequency technology and enhance competitiveness
for future revenues. As a percentage of consolidated revenue, R&D spending for the vears ended April
30, 2014 and 2013 was approximately 8% each vear. In fizcal year 2014, the Company continued the
accelerated level of development that began in fiscal year 2013 of new satellite payload microwave
receivers/converters from DC to Ka band. These zateliite payvicad products are anticipated to be
available for customer evaluation and new contract awards in early fiscal yvear 2015, In addition to the
salelliite payload products, internal R&D zpending includes development and improvement of quartz-
based and rubidium atomic clocks, development of new GP3-baszed synchronization products and further
enhancement of the capabiliies of the Company’s line of low g-zensitivity and ruggedized rubidium
oscillators, The Company also continued to engage in customer-funded development activity the cost of
which appears in cost of revenues, thus reducing the level of intermal R&D spending. Although funding is
obtained from customers, the Company retains the rights o any products developed. The Company will
continue to devole significant rescurces to develop new products, enhance exisling products and
implement efficient manufacturing processes. For fiscal year 2015, the Company anticipaies that intermal
research and development spending will be less than 10% of revenues. The Company believes that
internally generaied cash and cash reserves are adequaie to fund these development efforts.

Operating Profit
Fizscal vears ended April 30,

{in thouzsands)
Chamge
2014 2013 3 %
34,873 .E6TS 3194 4%

For the year endead Apnl 30, 2014, opearating profit increased over the pror year due to lower selling,
genaral and administrative expenses as describad above, parially offset by lower gross margin and
higher R&D spending. As in the prior year, the FEI-NY sagment where the Company’s salallite payload
contracts are performed, accounted for all of fiscal vear 2014's operaling profit. The Company's obber
bwo sagments, FEI-Zyler and Gillam-FEI, both incurred operaling losses on lower sales volume,

For the year ended April 30, 2013, operating profit was reduced by the $1.4 million inventory write
down in the Gillam-FE| segment, higher selling and administrative costs and increased R&D spending.
All of the fiscal year 2013 operating profit was generated by the FEI-NY segment which enjoyed the
benafit of rising satellite payload revenues. The Company's other segments, FEI-Zyfer and Gillam-FEI,
both incurred operating losses on reduced revenues, higher costs and the invenlory write down.
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On anticipated increased revenues and favorable product mix, the Company expects to realize an
improved gross margin while maintaining other operaling expenses within their targeted amounts. Thus,
the Company expects to report higher operating profits in fiscal year 2015,

Dther Income [Expense)
Fiscal vears ended April 30,

{im thousands)
Chamge
2014 2013 3 %
Investment income 3 BB0 587 3209 3%
Interest expense (156] (195) 38 205
Oiher income [expensa), nat 03 (B8} 72 HM
81,427 407 $1,020 251%

Investment income is derived primarily from the Company's holdings of marketable securities.
Eamings on these securities may vary basaed on fluctuating dividend payout levels and interest rates and
the timing of purchases or sales of securities. During fiscal years 2014 and 2013, investment incoma
included gains upon the sale or redemption of marketable securities of approximately $367,000 and
347,000, respectively. During fiscal year 2015, the Company anticipates thal invesiment income will be
approximately the same as thal earnad in fiscal yvear 2014, depending on the yiald and size of ils
invastment portfalio.

In fiscal year 2014, interest expense was incurred on borrowings under the Company's $25 million
credit facility with a bank, on deferred compensation payments and capital leases for equipment. The
new bank credit facility replaced the previous $9.3 million credit line against which the Company had
borrowed approximately 36 million as of the end of fiscal year 2013, As a result of the new credit facility,
the Company maintained a higher level of debt than in fiscal year 2013, but since the new credit facility
carries a lower inferest rate than the previous credit line, fiscal year 2014 interest expense was lower than
that incurred in fiscal year 2013. Interest expense in future years will be dependent on interest rates in
the LS.

Other income in fiscal year 2014 includes a $736,000 gain recognized upon the sale of certain
manufaciuring equipment fo Morion, Inc. under the ferms of a license agreement related to the
Company's rubidium oscillator produciion fechnolegy, (For more information regarding the Company’s
investment in Morion see Mote 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,) During the fiscal year 2013,
other income consisted of insignificant non-operating expenses.

Income Tax Provision

Fizcal vears ended April 30,

{im thousands)
Chamge
2014 2013 I
32,260 31,400 3860 B19%

Effective tax rale on pre-tax book incorme:
35.9% 27 5%

For the year ended April 30, 2014, the effective tax rate on pre-fax income increased as a result of
lower tax credits for the U.S. subsidiaries and losses at the Company’s foreign subsidiaries for which no
fax benefit is currenily available. During the year ended Aprl 20, 2013, cerlain tax law changes were
enacted which enabled the Company fo obiain larger U.35, federal fax credits and nontaxable losses at
foreign subsidiaries were less than that incurred in fiscal year 2014, thus reducing the Company’s
effective tax rate on pre-fax income.

The Company is subject to taxation in several countries, The statutory federal rates are 24% in the
U3, 33% in Europe and 25% in China. The Company ulilizes the availability of research and
development tax crediis ("R&D credit”™) in the U.S. o lower iis fax rate. The RE&D credit expired am
December 31, 2013 and the U.S. Congress has yet to reinstale it. Thus, the Company is able to ulilize
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the R&D credit for only a porticn of iis fiscal year 2014 expenses. (See Mote 13 o the Consolidated
Financial Statemenis for a reconciliation of the actual tax benefit to the expecied tax provision at the
federal statutory rate.)

The Company’s European subsidiaries have available net ocperating loss ("NOL") camyforwards of
approximately 33.6 milion to offset fulure taxable income. The associated deferred tax asset for the
foreign subsidiary NOL is fully reserved by the deferred tax valuation allowance. These loss
carryforwards have no expiralion date. As a result of the acquisition of FEI-Elcom, the Company has a
federal MOL carryforward of $5.6 million which may be applied in annually limited amounts to offset future
L3 ~sourced taxable income over the next 18 years.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company's balance sheet continues to reflect a highly liquid position with working capital of
$78.2 million at April 30, 2014, Included in working capital at Apnl 30, 2014 is $23.7 million consisting of
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. The Company's current ratio at April 30, 2014 is 9.1
o 1 comparad to 8.7 to 1 at the end of the pror fiscal year.

Met cash provided by operating activities for the year ended April 30, 2014, was $3.6 million
compared to $2.8 million for the prior fiscal year. During fiscal years 2014 and 2013, the Company
incurred $3.8 million and $6.0 million, respectively, in non-cash charges to eamings, including
deprecialion and amcrlization expense, inventory wrile downs, warranly and accounis receivable
reserves, cartain employee benafit plan expenses, including accounting for stock-based compansation,
Far fiscal year 2014, operating cash was reduced by increases fo inventories and accounts receivabla.
During fiscal year 2013, operating cash was reduced by increases to inventories and payment of
estimated income taxes.  In fiscal year 2015, the Company anticipates that it will maintain positive cash
flow from operations by continuing o generale operating prafits and managing its inventory levels,

Met cash used in investing activities was $3.6 million and $2.0 million, respectively, for the fiscal
yvears ended Aprl 30, 2074 and 2012, In fiscal year 2014, investing aclivities included net proceeds from
the redemption, sale or purchase of marketable securities for $1.8 million offset by the acquisition of
capital equipment for $5.4 milion. The fiscal year 2013 activities consisted of net proceeds from
marketable securities transactions of $170,000 and acquisitions of capital equipment for $2.2 million. The
Company may continue to invest cash equivalents in longer-ferm securities or to convert shorl-term
investments to cash equivalents as dictated by its investmen! and acquisition strategies. The Company
will continue to acquire more efficient eguipment to automate its production process, The Company
intends to spend between $3.0 million and 5$4.0 milion on capital equipment during fiscal year 2015.
Internally generated cash is axpacted to be adeqguate to acquire this property, plant and equipment.

The Company has a five-year, $25 million credit facility from a bank, As of April 30, 2014, the
Company has borrowed a total of $10.1 million under the credit facility. Such funds were used to fund the
2012 acquisition of FEI-Elcom in the amount of $6 million with the balance used principally to finance the
purchase of additional manufacturing equipment to meet increased production output demands. The
Company may draw on this bank credit facility o provide additicnal working capital and to fund
acquisitions. The interest rate on the credit facility is based on LIBOR plus either 75 basis points or 175
basis points depending on under which of the two tranches the Company chooses to borrow. For a more
complete description of the credit facility, see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In
addition, the Company's European subsidiaries have available approximately $350,000 under a bank
credit line to meet short-term cash flow requirements. The rate of inferest on any borrowings is based on
the ane manth EURD Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR). The European subsidiaries had no borrowings
against this line of credit during fiscal years 2014,

During the year ended April 30, 2014, cash provided by financing activities was $4.3 million. The
Company borrowed $4.1 million under the bank credit facility and made payments on capital lease
obligations in the amount of $15,000. The Company also realized $182,000 from the tax benefit arising
from the exercise of stock-based awards during fiscal year 2014, During fiscal year 2013, cash used in
financing activities was $1.9 million consisting of borrowings and subsequent repayment of $5.0 million
under its previous line of credit and payments of $357 000 against capital lease obligations. In addition,
during the third quarter of fiscal year 2013, the Company paid a special cash dividend of $1.7 million.
Partially offsetting these financing cash outflows, the Company also received $172,000 upon the exercisa
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of stock-based awards and the tax benefit arising from such exercizes. The Company will continue to use
ireasury shares to satisfy the future exercize of stock oplions and stock appreciation rights granted to
officers and employees. The Company has been authorized by its Board of Directors to repurchase up to
$5 million worth of shares of its common stock for treasury whenever appropriate opportunities arise but it
has neither a fixed repurchase plan nor commitments to purchase addifional shares in the fulure. As of
the end of fiscal year 2014, the Company has repurchased approximately $4 million of its common stock
out of the $5 million authorization

The Company will continue to expend resources to develop, improve and acquire products for space
applications, guidance and targeting systems, and communication systems which management believes
will result in future growth and continued profitability. During fiscal year 2015, the Company intends to
make a substantial invesiment of capital and technical resources to develop and acquire new products to
mieet the needs of the U.5. Government, commercial space and network infrastruciure marketplaces and
iz invest in more efficient product designs and manufaciuring procedures. Where possible, the Company
will secure partial customer funding for its E&D efforts but is targeting to spend its own funds at a rate of
up to 10% of revenues to achieve its development goals. Intemally generated cash will be adequate to
fund these development efforis. The Company may also pursug acquisitions to expand its range of
products and may wuse internally generated cash and external funding in connection with swuch
acquisitions,

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangemants

The Company does nol have any off-balance zheet arrangemenis, other than operaling leasas, that
have or are reasonably likely to have a currenl or fulure effect on the Company's financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures
of capital rescurces that i matenal to investors.

As of April 30, 2014, the Company’s consolidated backlog amounted to approximately 348 million as
compared to approximately $51 million at the beginning of the fiscal year. (See ltem 1). Approximately
70% of this backlog is expected to be filled during the Company's fiscal year ending April 30, 2015.
Included in the backlog at April 30, 2014 is approximataly £3.5 million under cost-plus-fes contracis which
the Company balieves represant firm commitments from ils customers for which the Company has not
received full funding o date. The Company excludes from backlog any confracts or awards for which it
has not receved authonzation 1o proceed. On fixed price confracts, the Company excludes any unfundad
porion. The Company axpecls any partially funded contracls to become fully funded over time and will
add the additional funding 1o its backleg at that time. The backlog is subject to change by reason of
savaral faclors including possible cancellation of orders, change orders, lerms of the contracts and olbwer
factors bevond the Company's control.  Accordingly, the backlog is nol necessarily indicative of the
revenues or profits (losses) which may be realized when the results of such contracls are reporiad.

WETTPRERER

The Company's liquidity is adequate to mest its operating and invesiment needs through at least
April 30, 2015,

RECENT NTING PRONOUNCEMENT

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standard
Update ("ASU") No. 2014-08, Revenue from Coniracls with Customers (Topic 6806). ASU 2014-08
eliminates most of the existing industry-specific revenue recognition guidance and significantly expands
related disclosures. The required disclosures will include both quantitative and qualitative information
about the amount, timing and uncartainty of revenue from contracts with customers and the significant
judgments used. Enlities can refrospectively apply ASL 2014-09 or use an alternative transition method.
This ASL is effective for public companies for annual reporting periods beginning on or after December
15, 2016 and for the Company, must be adopted for its fiscal year 2018 beginning on May 1, 2017. The
Company is in the process of determining the effect that ASU 2014-089 may have on its financial
statemants.

In February 2013, the FASE issued ASU Mo, 2013-02, Ofther Comprehensive Income. The
amendments require an entity to provide information about the amounts reclassified out of accumulated
other comprehensive income by component.  In addition, an entity is required fo present, eithar on the
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face of the statement where net income is presented or in the notes, significant amounis reclassified out
of accumulated other comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income but only if the
amount reclassified is reqguired under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified fo net income in its entirety in the
same reporing period. For other amounts that are not required under U3, GAAP to be reclassified in
their entirety to net income, an entity is required {o cross-reference o other disclosures required umder
U3, GAAP that provide addifional detail about those amounts, This ASU is effective for periods
beginning after December 15, 2012 and the Company adopted ASU 2013-02 in fiscal year 2014 which
began on May 1, 2013, Such adoplion had no effect on the Company’s financial statements since no
reclassification adjusiments were made.

In July 2012, the FASE issued ASL No. 2012-02, Infangibles = Goodwill and Other (Topic 353);
Test Indefinite-Lived Infangible Assets for Impairment. Under the requirements of ASL 2012-02 an entity
has the option to assess qualtafive factors when testing indefinite-lived intangible assets annually to
determine whether it is more likely than nof that the asset is not impaired. An enfity also has the option to
bypass the qualitalive assessment for any indefinite-lived infangible asset in any period and proceed
directly to performing the guantitative impairment test or resume performing the qualitative assessment in
any subsequent period. If, after assessing the tolality of evenis and circumstances, an entity concludes
that it is more likely than not that the indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired, then it is reguired o
determine the fair valug of the indefinile-ived infangible asset and perform the quantifative impairmant
iest by comparing the fair value with the carmying amount in accordance with Subfopic 350-30, ASU
2012-02 is effective for annual and interim impairment fesis performed for fiscal years beginning after
September 15, 2012, The Company adopted ASU 2012-02 for iis fiscal year 2014 which began on May
1, 2013, The adoption of this ASU had no material impact on the Company’s financial statements,

OTHER MATTERS

The financial information reported herein is not necessarily indicative of future operating results or of
the future financial condition of the Company. Excepl as noted, management iz unaware of any
impending transactions or internal events that are likely to have a material adverse effect on results from
operations,

INFLATION

During fiscal year 2014, as in fiscal year 2013, the impact of inflation on the Company’s business
has notl been materally significant.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
This itam i% not reguired for smaller reporling companies,
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Frequency Electronics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Frequency Elecironics, Inc.
and zubsidiaries (the "Company™) as of April 30, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated
statements of income and comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in stockholders’ eqguity
for each of the vears in the two-year pericd ended April 30, 2014. The financial statements are the
rezponsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits,

We conducted our awdits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Owersight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasomable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
mizstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged fo perform, an audit of
itz internal control over financial reporling. Owr audits included consideration of infemal control
over financial reporting as 8 basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but nof for the purpose of expressing an opinicn on the effecliveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporiing. Accordingly, we express no such opinien. An
awdit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporiing the amounis and disclosures in the
financial statemenis. An audit also includes assessing the accouniing principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that ocur audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consclidated financial statements referred fo above present fairy, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial posifion of Frequency Elecironics, Inc, and subsidiaries as of
April 20, 2014 and 2013, and the consclidated results of their operalions and their cash flows for
each of the years in the two-year pericd ended Aprl 30, 2014, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States.

E sorsdhmper. I4P

EisnarAmper LLP

Mew York, New York
July 28, 2014
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FREQUEMCY ELECTROMICS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheals

Apnl 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands, excepl par valug)

ASSETS: 2014 2013
Currant assets:
Cash and cash equivalents & 7,688 + 3480
Markatable securities 16,030 18,270
Accounts recaivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
of 3234 in 2014 and 3288 in 2013 7. 741 T.781
Costs and eslimated samings in excess of billings, nal 10,438 BB1T
Inventoras, mel 41,227 37,521
Deferrad incoma taxes 3220 3,170
Prapaid income laxes 213 BED
Prepaid expenses and other 1.284 1.517
Total current assets BT .B62 81,016
Properly, plant and equipmeant, al cosl, mel of
accumulated depreciation and amortization 11,240 8,316
Deferred incoma taxes 6 650 6,320
Goodwill and other intangible assels GBS TE1
Cash surrender value of life insurance and cash hald in trust 11,321 10,763
Other assels 1.694 1,713
Total assets §119,461 $108,909

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY-
Currant liabilities:

Shorl-term credil obligations 3 - 3 158
Accounts payable - trade 2,336 1,208
Accrued liabilities 7361 7964
Total currant liabilities 9,897 9327
Cradil obligations- noncurrant 10,100 6,000
Defarrad compansation 10,724 10,374
Defarred rent and other liabiliies 584 756
Total liabilities 31,115 26 457
Commiiments and confingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value authorized 600 shares,

no shares issued - -
Commaon stock, $1.00 par value; authorized 20,000 shares,

8,164 shares issvad and 8,571 outstanding in 2014,

B 463 puistanding in 2013 9,164 8,164
Additional paid-in capital 53,181 51,913
Fetained earnings 24,702 20 BB

87,047 B1,73%9
Common stock reacguired and held in treasury -

at cost (593 sharas in 2014 and

701 sharas in 2013) [2.715) (3,200)
Accumulaled olher comprahensive incoma 4,014 3813

Total stockholders' equity 88,346 82 452
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $119.461 $108,908

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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FREQUENCY ELECTRONICS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
Consobdated Statements of Incomea and Comprahensive Incoma
Years ended Apnl 30, 2014 and 2013

2014 213
(Im thousands, except per share data)
Revenues F 71,550 F 68,932
Cost of revenues 46 800 43 8522
Gross margin 24,750 25110
Zeling and administrative expensas 14,064 14,704
Fesearch and development axpanses 5813 5 TET
Ciparating profit 4 873 4679
Other income (expense):
Invesiment income BED 671
Interest expense [156) (195)
Oher income [expense), nal 703 (68)
Income before provision for income taxes &,300 5,086
Pravision for income taxes 2 260 1,400
Met income $_4.040 $ 3,686
Met income per common share:
Basic 5047 H0.44
Diluted 5046 5043
Avaerage shares oultstanding:
Basic 8,527 413
Diluted 8817 8,605
sStatements of Comprehensive Income
Met Income $ 4,040 % 3,686
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustmeant 05 (T82)
Change in market value of marketable securities (B5S) 821
Deferred fax effect of change in marketable securities 255 [Z58)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 11 __[257)
Comprehensive income $4141 $ 3429

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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FREQUENCY ELECTROMICS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
Congolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013

014 13
{In thousands)
Cazh flows from cperating activities:
Meat income $4,040 $ 3 686
Adjustments to reconcile net income

to net cash provided in operating activities:

Deferred income tax benefit (160} (320)
Depreciation and amortization 247 2413
Deferred lease obligation 120 (68}
Provizion for losses on accounts

receivable, inventories and warranty reserve 254 2,146
Gains on marketable securities (36T} 47}
(Gain) loss on sake of fixed and other assets, net (GET) 45
Employes benefit plans expense 1,246 1.072
Stock-based compensation expense 1,105 a47
Tax benefit from exercise of stock-based compensation (182) (152}

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (1,631} 455
Inventones (3,102) (6.017)
Prepaid expenses and other 423 (133}
Other assets (703} (614)
Accounts payable - trade 614 (202}
Accrued liabilities [BE) Bas
Income taxes refundable/payable G658 {1,071}
Other liabilities (419 (313

Metf cash provided by operating activities 3,642 2,832

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of marketable securities (3,162} {2,838)
Proceeds from sale or redemption of marketable

secunties 4,983 3,006
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets (a) = &7
Capital expenditures {5,405} {2,250)

Mel cash used in investing actvities (3,574) {2,013}

Continued
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FREQUENCY ELECTROMICS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
Congolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013

(Contimued)

Cazh flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from credit line borrowing
Payment of short-term credit and lease obligations
Proceeds from exercize of stock options
Dividends paid
Tax benefit from exercise of stock-based compensation
Met cash provided by (used in) financing activites

Met increase (decrease) in cash and cash eguivalents
before effect of exchange rate changes

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents

Met increase (decrease) in cash and cash eguivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yvear

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the year far;
Inferest

Income taxes

Mon-cash operating and investing activities:

014 2013
{In thousands)
F 4,100 % 5,000
[158) (5,357)
- 20
- (1,684)
182 152
4 267 {1,869)
4,335 {1,049}
(97} (273}
4,238 {1,322)
3460 _4.782
$7.698 $ 3460
%153 %186
$1.735 $2.993

{a) During the year ended Aprl 20, 2014, the Company delivered certain fixed assets
called for by a license agreement with Morion, Inc, (See Note 10. Investmeant in
Morion, Inc.) A porion of the $925 deposit previously received and recorded as
deferred revenue at April 30, 2013, was recognized as proceeds on the sale of those
fixed assets in fiscal year 2014, Mo additional cash was received for that provision

of the license agreement.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance at April 30, 2012

Contribution of stock to 401(k) plan
Stock-based compensation expense
Tax banefit from stock option exercise
Exercise of stock options and
stock appreciation rights - net of
shares tendered for exercise price
Cash dividend 50_20 per share
Change in unrealized gains and lossas
on markelable securities, net of taxes
Foreign currency tranglation adjustment
Met Income
Balance at April 30, 2013

Contribution of stock to 401(k) plan
Stock-based compensation expense
Tax benefit from stock option exercise
Exercise of stock options and
stock appreciation rights - net of
shares tendered for exercise price
Change im unrealized gains and loases
on markeiable securities, net of taxes
Fareign currency translaton adjustment
Ml Inconme
Balan Apri 2014

FREQUENCY ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Conasolidated Statements of Changes in Siockholders' Equity
‘Years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013

(I thousands, except share data)

Accumulaled
Additional Treasury siock ather
Common Stock paid in Retained (at cost) comprehensive
Sharas Amount capital aarmings Sharas Amount mcome (loss) Tofal
9.163.940 $9.164 550,797 $18,880 8OO, TET ($3,659) 54,170 §79,132
214 (52,T15) 242 458
947 100 4T
152 152
(197} (47 582) 217 20
{1,684) (1,684)
525 525
(T82) (782)
3 586 3 BBE
9,163,940 9164 51,913 20,862 700,550 {3,200]) 3.813 82,452
277 i41,775) 1689 4i8
1,104 (300 1 1,105
182 182
(295) (65 384) 2085
{404} {404)
505 505
4,040 . 4,040
9.163.940 59164 553181 Se4F02 0 893431 (EAT15) 4014 00,340

The accompanying nabes are an integral part of these financial statements.

28



FREQUENCY ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation:

The consolidaled financial statements include the accounis of Frequency Elecironics, Ine. and ils
wholly-owned subsidianes (the "Company” or "Registrant”). References to “FEI" are 1o the parant
company alone and do not refer to any of ils subsidianes. The Company is principally engaged in the
design, development and manufaciure of precision time and frequency control products and components
for microwave integrated circuil applications. See Note 14 for information regarding the Company's FEI-
MY (which includes the subsidiaries FEI Government Systems, Inc., FEI Communications, Inc., Freguancy
Electronics, Inc. Asia ("FEl-Asia™) and FEI-Elcom Tech, Inc. ("FEI-Elcom™)), Gillam-FEIl, and FEI-Zyfar
business segments. Intercompany accounts and szignificant intercompany transactions are eliminated in
congsolidation. To accommodate the different fiscal periods of Gillam-FEI, the Company recognizes is
share of net income or loss on a one month lag. Any material events which may occur during the
intervening month at Gillam-FEI will be accounted for in the consclidated financial statements.

These financial statements have been prepared in conformily with United Slates generally accepled
accounting principles "U.S. GAAP™) and reguire management to make estimales and assumptions that
affect amounts reported and disclosed in the financial statements and related notes. Actual resulls could
diffier from these estimates.

Cash Equivalents:

The Company considers cerificates of deposit and other highly hiquid investmeants with malurities of
threa months or less when purchased 1o be cash equivalents. The Company places ils lemporary cash
invastmeants with high credit quality financial institutions. Such investments may be in excess of the FDIC
insurance limit. Mo losses have been exparienced on such investmanis.

Marketable Securities:

Marketable securities consist of investimenis in common sfocks, including exchange-traded funds,
corporate debt securities and debl securities of LS. Government agencies. All marketable securities were
held in the cuslody of financial institutions; four and five instifutions at April 30, 2014 and 2013,
respactively. Investments in debt and equity securilies are categorized as available for sale and are
carfad at fair value, with unrealized gains and lossas excluded from income and recorded directly to
stockholders’ equity. The Company recognizes gains or lossas when securilies are sold using the specific
identification method.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

Losses from uncollectible accounts receivable are provided for by utilizing the allowance for doubtful
accounts method based upon management's estimate of uncollectible accounts. Management analyzes
accounts receivable and the potential for bad debts, cusiomer concenfrations, credif worthiness, current
economic trends and changes in customer payment terms when evaluating the amount recorded for the
allowance for doubtful accounts.

Inventories;

Inveniories, which consist of finished goods, work-in-process, raw materials and components, are
accounted for at the lower of cost (specific and average) or market.

Property, Plant and Equipment:

Property, plant and eguipment are recorded at cost and include interest on funds borrowed to finance
consiruction. Expenditures for renewals and betterments are capitalized; maintenance and repairs are
charged to income when incurred. When fixed assels are sold or retired, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation and amortization are eliminated from the respective accounts and any gain or loss is credited
or charged to income.

If evenis or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may mot
be recoverable, the Company estimates the future cash flows expected (o result from the use of the asset
and its eventual dizposition. If the sum of the expecied fulure cash flows (undiscounted and withouwt
interest charges) is less than the carrying amount of the long-lived assel, an impairment [oss is recognized.
To date, no impairment losses have been recognized.
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Depreciation and Amortization:

Depreciation of fixed assets iz computed on the straight-ling method based upon the estimated useful
Iives of the assets (40 years for buildings and 3 1o 10 years for olher depreciable assels). Leasehold
improvements and equipment acquired under capital leases are amortized on the straight-lime mathod over
the shorter of the term of the lease or the useful life of the related asset.

Amorlization of identifiable intangible assels is based upon the expected lives of the assals and is
recorded al a rate which approximatas the Company's ulilization of the assals.

Intangible Assets:

Intangible asseis consist of the |50 8000 cedification arising from the acquisition of FEI-Elcom in the
assignment of fair value to its acquired assets including intangibles, The cerdification is valued at fair value
and amorized over the estimated useful life of 3 years from the date of acquisition,

Goodwill;

The Company records goodwill as the excess of purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net
assels acquired. Goodwill i tested for impairment on at least an annual basis at year end. When it is
determined that the carmying value of goodwill may not be recoverable, the Company writes down the
goodwill io an amount commensurate with the revised value of the acquired assets. The Company
measures impairment based on revenue projeciions, recent transaciions involving similar businesses and
price/revenue multiples at which they were bought and sold, price/revenue mulliples of competitors, and
the present market value of publicly-traded companies in the Company’s industry

Revenue and Cost Recognition:

Revenues under larger, long-term confracts, which generally require billings bazed on achievement of
milestones rather than delivery of product, are reporied in operating resulis using the percentage of
completion methed. For U.S. Government and other fixed-price contracts that require initial design and
development of the product, revenue is recognized on the cost-lo-cost method. Under this method,
revenue iz recorded based upon the ratic that incurred cosis bear o iotal estimated confract costs with
related cost of sales recorded as the costs are incurred. Cosis and estimaied earnings in excess of
billings on uncompleted confracts, net of billings on uncompleted contracis in excess of costs and
estimated eamings, are included in current assets.

On production-type orders, revenue is recorded as unitz are delivered with the related cost of sales
recognized on each shipment based upon a percentage of estimated final program costs.

Changes in job performance on long-term and production-lype orders may result in revisions o cosls
and revenue and are recognized in the period in which revisions are determined o be required. Provisions
for anticipated losses are made in the penod in which they become determinable.

For customer orders in the Company's subsidianes, and smaller contracls or orders in the other
business segments, sales of products and services lo cuslomers are reported in operaling resulls upon
shipment of the product or performance of the services pursuant o terms of the customer order.

Contract costs include all direct material, direct labor costs, manufacturing overhead and other diract
cosls related to confract performance. Salling, general and administralive cosls are charged o expense
as incurred.

In accordance with industry practice, inventoried costs contain amounts relating to contracts and
programs with long production cycles, a portion of which will not be realized within one year. Program
costs for which production-level orders cannol be determined as probable are written down in the pariod in
which thal assessment 15 made.

Comprehensive Income:

Comprehensive income consists of net income and oiher comprehensive incoms,  Other
comprehensive income includes changes in unrealized gains or losses, net of tax, on securities available
for sale during the yvear and the effects of foreign currency translation adjustments.

Research and Development expenses:
The Company engages in research and development activities to identify new applications for its
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core lechnologies, to improve existing products and to improve manufaciuring processes o achieve cost
reductions and manufacturing efficiencies. Research and development cosiz include direct labor,
manufaciuring overhead, direct materials and contracted services. Such costz are expensed as incurmed.

Income Taxes:

The Company recognizes deferred tax liabilities and azsels bazed on the expecled fulure lax
consaquences of evenls thal have been included in the financial statements or tax relums.  Under this
method, deferred tax liabilities and assels are determined based on the difference between the financial
statement and tax bases of aszetz and liabilities using enacled tax rates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expecled o reverse. Valuation allowances are established and adjusted when necessary
o increase or reduce deferred tax assets o the amount expected o be realized.

The Company analyzes ils lax positions under accounting slandards which prescribe recognition
thresholds that must be mel before a lax benefit is recognized in the financial statements and provides
guidance on de-recegnition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosune,
and transition. An entity may only recognize or conlinue to recognize tax positions thal meet a "mone likely
than not" threshold. When and if the Company were to recognize interest or penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits, it would be reported net of the federal tax benefit in the tax provision.

Earnings Per Share:

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net eamings by the weighled average number of
shares of common stock outslanding. Diluted earmings per share are compuled by dividing nal earmings
by the sum of the waighled average number of shares of common stock and the f-converted effect of
unexercized stock oplions and stock appreciation rights.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents and short-ferm credit obligations are reflected in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheats at amounts considered by management to reasonably approximate fair value
based upon the nature of the instrument and current market conditions, Management is not aware of any
factors that would significantly affect the value of these amounts., The Company also has an invasiment in
a privataly-held company, Morion, Inc. ("Monon”™). The Company is unable to reasonably estimate a fair
value for this investment.

Foreign Operations and Foreign Currency Adjustments:

The Company maintains manufacturing operations in Belgium and the People's Republic of China,
The Company is vulnerable to currency risks in these counfries. The local currency is the functional
currency of each of the Company's non-U.S. subsidiaries. No foreign currency gains or losses are
recorded on intercompany transactions since they are affected at current rates of exchange. The resulls
of operations of foreign subsidiaries, when franslated info U.S. dollars, reflect the average rates of
exchange for the periods presented. The balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries, except for equity
accounts which are translated at historical rates, are translated inte U.S. dollars at the rates of exchange in
effect on the date of the balance sheel. As a resull, similar results in local currency can vary upon
translation info U.S. dollars if exchange rates fluctuate significantly from one period to the next.

Equity-based Compensation:

The Company values its share-based payment transactions using the Black-Zcholes valuation modal,
Such value is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the service period of the awards, which
is generally the vesfing period, net of estimated forfeitures.

The weighted average fair value of each oplion or stock appreciation right has been estimated on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes oplion pricing model with the following range of weighted
average assumplions wsed for grants:

Years ended April 30
2014 2013
Expected volatility 34% 40%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate 2.45% o 2,50% 1.31% 1o 1.35%
Expacled lives 8.5 years 8.5 years
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The expecied life assumption was determined based on the Company's historical experience. The
expected volatility assumplion was based on the historical volatility of the Company's common stock. The
dividend yield azsumplion was determined based upon the Company's past history of dividend paymenis
and the Company's current decision to szuzspend payment of dividends. On December 21, 2012, the
Company's Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of 30.20 per share, payable on December
3, 2012 to shareholders of record on December 24, 2012, Due o the one-time nature of the special
dividend it was not factored info the Black-Scholes fair value calculations, The risk-free interest rate
assumiption was determined using the implied vield currenily available for zerc-coupon LS. Government
izzues with a remaining term egual to the expected life of the stock opticns.

Concentration of Credit Rizk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company 1o concentration of credil rsk, consisl
principally of cash and cash eguivalents and Irade receivables. The Company mainlains accounts al
saveral commercial banks at which the balances exceed Federal Deposil Insurance Corporation limits.
The Company has not exparienced any losses on such amounis. Concentration of credit risk with respect
o frade receivables is generally diversified due to the large number of enfities comprising the Company's
customer base and their disperzicn across geographic areas principally within the United States. The
Company routinely addresses the financial strength of itz customers and, as a consequence, belisves that
itz receivable credit risk exposure iz limited. The Company does not require customers to post collateral.

Mew Accounting Pronouncemants:

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update (*ASU") No. 2014-08, Revanue from
Conlracts with Customers [Topic 608). ASU 2014-09 eliminates most of the existing indusiry-spacific
revenue recognition guidance and significantly expands related disclosures. The required disclosuras will
include both quantitative and gualitative information about the amount, timing and uncerainty of revenue
from contracts with customers and the significant judgments used. Enlities can retrospectively apply ASU
2014-08 or use an alternative transition method. This ASU is effective for public companies for annual
reporting pericds beginning on or after December 15, 2016 and for the Company, must be adopled for its
fiscal year 2018 beginning on May 1, 2017. The Company is in the process of detarmining the effact that
AEL 2014-08 may have on iz financial stalaments.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-02, Other Comprehensive Incomea. The
amendments require an enlity 1o provide information about the amounis reclassified oul of accumulated
other comprehansive incoma by component.  In addilion, an entity is requirad to present, githar on the
face of the stalement where nat incomea is presented or in the notes, significant amounts reclassified oul
of accumulated olher comprahensive income by the respective ling items of nal income bul only if the
amount reclassified is reguired under U.S. GAAP 1o be reclassified to net income in ils entirely in the
same reporing period. For olher amounts that are nol required under U.S. GAAP 1o be reclazsified in
their entirety to nel income, an entily & required lo cross-reference o other disclosures required under
U5, GAAP thal provide addiional detail aboul those amouniz. This ASU is effective for periods
beginning after December 15, 2012 and the Company adopted ASU 2013-02 in fiscal year 2014 which
began on May 1, 2013, Such adoption iz reflected in the Company's financial statements resulting in
additional disclosures. (See Note 15.)

In July 2012, the FASE issued ASU No. 201202, intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350):
Test Indefinile-Lived infangibie Assels for impaimment. Under the requiremants of ASU 201202 an enlity
has the option to assess qualitative factors when testing indefinile-lived intangible assels annually lo
determine whether it is more likely than nol that the assel iz nol impaired. An entily also has the oplion lo
bypass the gualtalive assezsment for any indefinite-lived intangible azsel in any penod and proceed
directly 1o pedorming the guantitative impairmant test or resumea pedorming the qualitative assassmant in
any subzequent perod. If, afler assessing the tolality of evenls and circumstances, an anlity concludes
that it is more likely than not that the indefinite-lived intangible aszel is impaired, then i is reguired o
determine the fair valua of the indefinite-lived intangible asset and perform the quantilative impairmant
lest by comparng the fair value with the carrying amount in accordance with Sublopic 350-30. ASU
201202 iz effective for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fizscal vears beginning after
September 15, 2012, The Company adopted ASU 2012-02 for its fiscal year 2014 which began on May
1, 2013, The adopticn of this ASL had no material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

32



FREQUENCY ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued

Z. Earnings Per Share
Reconciliations of the weighled average shares oulstanding for basic and diluled Earnings Per

Share are as follows:
Years ended April 30,
2014 2013
Baszic EPS Shares outstanding (welghted average) 8,526,570 B412 633
Effect of Dilutive Securlies 290,381 192,018
Diluted EPS Shares outstanding B 816,957 8,604 851

Dilutive securities consist of unexercised stock oplions and siock appreciation rghts ("SARS").
The compuiation of diluted shares cutstanding excludes those oplions and SARS with an exercise price
in excass of the average market price of the Company's common shares during the pericds presented.
The inclusion of such options and SARS in the computation of eamnings per share would have been
antidilutive. For the years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013, the number of excluded options and SARS
were 270,875 and 939,375, respeclively.

3. Cosis and Estimated Eamings in Excess of Billings
AL April 30, 2014 and 2013, cosis and estimaled eamings in excess of billings, net, consist of the

following:
2014 2013
(in thousands)
Costs and estimated eamings in excess of billings $£11,965 $10.228
Billings in excess of costs and esfimated earnings [1.526) (1,611)
Met asset $10.430 2 BB1T

Such amounts represent revenue recognized on long-term contracts that had not been billed at
the balance sheet dates or represent a liability for amountz billed in excess of the revenue recognized.
Amounis are billed to customers pursuant to confract terms. In general, the recorded amounts will be
billed and collected or revenue recognized within twelve months of the balance sheet date. Revenue on
these long-term confracts is accounted for on the percentage of completion basis. During the years
ended April 30, 2094 and 2013, revenue recognized under percentage of completion contracts was
approximately $43.2 million and $35.6 million, respectively.

4, Inventores
Inventones at April 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, consisted of the following (in thousands):

2014 2013

Raw Materials and Component Parls 5 24 986 521,068
Work in Progress 12,385 13,665
Finished Goods 4 BAG 2 780
$41.227 §37.521

As of April 30, 2014 and 2013, approximately $33.4 million and $29.9 million, respectively, of fotal
inventory is located in the United States, approximately $7.1 million and $6.9 million, respectively, is
located in Belgium and approximately $0.7 million and $0.7 million, respectively, is located in China,

5. Prmo Flant and Equipment and Leases
Property, plant and equipment at April 30, 2014 and 2013, consiztz of the following (in thousands):

2014 2013
Buildings and building improvements & 58976 3 5477
Machinery, equipment and furnitune 48,651 44 758
55,627 50,235
Less, accumulated depreciation 44 387 41,919

$11.240 $ 8,318
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Depreciation and amorization expense for the years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013 was $2,309,000
and 52,250,000, respectively.

Mainlenance and repairs charged to operations for the vears ended April 30, 2014 and 2013 was
approximately 940,000 and 5993,000, respectivaly.

The Company keasas its Long Island, New York headquarters building at an annual rent of S800,000
following the Company's exercise of i1s oplion to renew the lease for a second S5-vear period. The lease
will end in January 2019, Under the terms of the lease, the Company is required to pay ils proporticnale
share of real estate taxes, insurance and olher charges.

In addition, the Company’s subsidiaries in New Jersey, China, France and California lease thair
office and manufactunng facilities. FEI-Elcom leases 32,000 square feet of office and manufacturing
space al current monthly rental of approximately 328,000 in the last bwo years of the leasa which axpires
in March 2016. The lease for the FEI-Asia facility is for a one-yvear lerm with monthly remt of $8,800
through February 2015, FEI-Zyfer leases office and manufacturing space encompassing 27,850 square
feet. Monthly rental payments are currently 325,500 and increase each vear over the remaining 40
months of the lease term. Satel-FEIl, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Gillam-FEI, occcupies office space
under a 9-year lease, cancalable after three years, at an approximate rate of $1,100 per manth.

Rent expense under operaling leases was approximately $1.5 million and $1.3 millien for the fiscal
years endad April 30, 2014 and 2013. The Company records rent expense on its New York building and
FEI-Zyfar facility on the straight-linge mathod over the lives of the respective leases. As a resull, as of
April 30, 2014 and 2013, the Company's balance sheetl includes deferred rent payable of approximately
F380,000 and $310,000, respactively, which will be recognized over the respective renlal penods.

Future minimum lease payments required by the operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending
April 30, Operating Leases
2015 $1,503
2016 1,473
207 1.174
2018 825
20149 B00
Total future minimum lease paymenis 2,675

6. Marketable Secyurities

The cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair market value of available-for-zsale
securities at April 30, 2014 and 2013 are as follows (in thousands):

April 30, 2014
Gross Gross Fair
Lnrealized Lnrealized Market
Cost Gaing Losses Value
Fixed income securities $ 8927 F 116 $ (36) $ 9,007
Equity securities 6267 ang [153) 7023
$15.194 $1.025 $(189) $16.030
April 30, 2013
Gross Gross Fair
Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
Fixed income securities $10,285 $ 297 20 $10,582
Equity securities 6,490 1,266 [68) 7. 688
$16.775 $1.563 $ (68) $18.270
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The following table presents the fair value and unrealized lozses, aggregated by investment type and
length of time that individual zecurities have been in a conlinuous unrealized loss position:

Lass than 12 months 12 Months or mong Taotal

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Lossas Valua Lossas Valua Lossas
April 30, 2014
Fixed Income Securities  § 501 3 O(3) 5 448 3 (33) o849 F (36)
Equity Securities 366 {1} 925 {152) 1,291 (153}

5 867 5 _(4) 31373 3 (183) f2.240  §(189)
April 30, 2013
Fixed Income Securities 5 - F - 5 - - 5 - 5 -
Equity Securities - - 512 {68) 512 (BE)

3 __- - 512 3 _(68) $ 512 & (68)

The Company regularly reviews ils investment portfolic to identify and evaluate investmeanits thal have
indications of possible impairmenl. The Company does nol believe that itz investments in marketable
securities with unrealized losses at April 30, 2014 are other-than-lemporary due to market volatility of the
security's fair value, analysts’ expectations and the Company’s ability to hold the securities for a period of
time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recoveries in market value.

Proceeds from the zale or redemptlion of available-for-zale securities and the resulling gross realized
gains and lozses included in the determination of net income {loss) are azs follows (in thousands):

For the vears ended April 30,

2014 2013
Proceeds 54,993 $3.006
Grass realized gains 5 367 § 47
Gross realized losses - § -

Maturities of fixed income securiies classified as available-for-zale at April 30, 2014 are as follows (at
cost, in thousands):

Current $4,014
Due afier one yvear through five years 3,086
Due after five vears through ten vears 1,827

58,0927

The fair value accounting framework provides a fair value hierarchy thatl prioritizes the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest pricnrty to unadjusted
gquoted prices in active markets for identical azsets or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the lowest
pricrity o unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements).

The threa levals of the fair value hierarchy are described balow:

Leval 1 Inputs 1o the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoled prices for identical assels or
liabilites in active markets that the Company has the ability 1o access.
Level 2 Inputs to the valuation methodology include:
- Qucted prices for similar assels or liabilities in aclive markals,
- Quoted prices for identical or similar assels or liabilites in inactive markels
- Inpuls other than guoled prices thal are obzervable for the assel or liability;

- Inputs that are derived principally from or corroboraled by observable market data by
correlation or other means.

Level 3 Inpuls o the valuation methodology are uncbzervable and significant o the fair value
measuremeant.

The assal's or liability's fair value measurement level within the fair value higrarchy is basad on the
lowest level of any inpul that is significant 1o the fair value measurement. Valualion lechniques usad
need o maximize lhe use of observable inpuls and minimize the use of unobservable inpuls. Al af the
Company's investments in marketable sacurities are Level 1 assels,
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T Debt Obligations

On June 8, 2013, the Company oblained a credit facility (the “Facility”) from JPMorgan Chase Bank,
M.A. [(“JPMorgan™) pursuant 1o a credit agreament (the “Credil Agreement”) between the Company and
JPMorgan. The maximum aggregale amount of the Facility iz $25.0 million, of which the Company
immiediately borrowed 372 million, using the proceeds to repay the outstanding balance under the 593
milllion line of credit with ancther financial institution which formery managed a substantial portion of the
Company's investment portfolio. As a result of thiz refinancing of short-term credit with a lomg-term
obligation, as of April 30, 2013, the Company reclassified the 36.0 million balance payable under the
replaced ling of credit to long-term debt. Proceeds from the Facility will be used for working capital and to
finance acquisiions. During the year ended April 30, 2014, the Company borrowed an additional 34.1
million under the Facility, primarily to finance the acquisition of additional manufacturing equipment.

The Company may make borrowings under the Facility, from either Tranche & or Tranche B or a
combination of both, not to exceed 325.0 million. Pursuant o the Credil Agreemenl, the amount of
Tranche A borrowings may nol exceed the value of the Pledged Investments (az defined in the Credit
Agreement). The amount of Tranche B borrowings may nol exceed the lesser of (i) $15.0 millicn and {ii)
the Borrowing Base {(as defined in the Credil Agreement). Current outstanding borrowings under the
Facility are all under Tranche A. The Facility is fully guaranteed by cerain of the Company's subsidiaries
and is zecured by, among other things, a pledge of zubstantially all personal property of the Company
and certain of the Company's subsidiaries.

Borrowings under the Facility are evidenced by a line of credit note {the “Mote”) and bear interast,
payable monthly, at a rate egual to the LIBOR Rale, as delermined from time o tme by JFMorgan
pursuant to the terms of the Mote, plus a margin of 0.75% for Tranche A borrowings and 1.75% for
Tranche B borrowings. The principal balance on the Note, along with any accrued and unpaid interast, is
due and payable no [ater than June 5, 2018, which is the maturity dale of the Facility. In addition, the
Company s reguired to pay JPMorgan fees equal to 0.1% per annum on any unused porion of the
Facility.

The Credil Agreament containg a number of affirmative and negative covenants, including limitations
on the incurrence of additional debl, liens on properly, acquisiions, loans and guaraniees, mengers,
consolidations, liguidations and dizsclutions, asset sales, and distributions and other paymenis in respect
of the Company's capital stock. The Credit Agreement also containg cerain events of default customary
for credit facilities of thiz type. including nonpayment of principal or interest when due, material
incorreciness of representations and warranties when made, breach of covenants, bankruplcy and
inzolvency, unstayed material judgment beyvond zpecified periods, and acceleration or payment default of
other material indebtedness. The Credit Agreement requires the Company o maintain, as of the end of
each fizcal quarter, a funded debt to EBITDA (Eamings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and
Amarization) ratic and, if there are any borrowings under Tranche B, an interest charge coverage ratio.
The calculation of both ratios is defined in the Credit Agreement. For the year ended April 30, 2014, the
Company met the required covenants for its borrowings under Tranche A,

Under the Company's subzequently replaced $9.3 million line of credit, noled above, during the fizcal
vear ended April 30, 2013, the Company borrowed 35.0 million and repaid the zame amount. The
highest borrowings under this line of credit during fizscal year 2013 was 38.5 million. The line was secured
by the invesiments and had no maturity date so long as the Company maintained its investments with the
financial institution. During fiscal year 2013, advances againzst the line of credit bore interest at variable
interest rates between 1.70% and 1.800%.

The Company's Eurcpean subsidiaries have available 250,000 Euros (approximately 3350000
based on current rates of exchange between the dollar and the Eurg) in a bank credit line to meet shor-
term cash flow requirements. As of April 30, 2014 and 2013, no amounts were outstanding under such
ling of credit. Borrowings under the bank credit line, if any, must be repaid within one year of receipt of
fundzs. Interest on this credit line iz at 1.0% over the EURD Interbank Offered rate (ELIRIBOR). At April
30, 2014 and 2013, the rate was 1.235% and 1.117%, rezspectively, bazed on the one-month ELIRIBOR.
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8. Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities at April 30, 2014 and 2013 consist of the fallowing (in housands):

2014 2013
Vacation and other compensation 1,761 51,754
Incentive compensation 1,389 1,634
Payraoll taxes 1,613 1,323
Deferred revenue 1,023 1,620
Warranty resen/e 617 598
Other 958 985

7,361 7,064

9. Product Warranties

The Company generally provides its customers with a one-year warranly regarding the
mianufaciured quality and funclionality of its products, For some limited products, the wamanty period has
been extended. The Company establishes warranly reserves bazed on il product history, curment
information on repair cosis and annual sales levels, Changes in the camying amount of accrued product
warranty cosls are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended April 30,

2014 2013
Balance at beginning of year 2098 2Te
Warranty costs incurred {339) (324)
Product warranty accrual 358 144
Balance at end of year S817 $598

10. Investment in Morion, Inc,

The Company has an investment in Moricn, Inc., a privaiely-held Russian company, which
manufaciures high precision quariz rescnators and crystal oscillators.  The Company's investment
consists of 4.6% of Morion’s outstanding shares, accordingly, the Company accounts for its investment in
Morion on the cost basis. This investment is included in other assets in the accompanying balance
sheets,

Dwring the fiscal years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013, the Company acquired product from Morion
in the aggregate amount of approximately $213,000 and 354,000, respectively, and the Company sold
product to Morion in the aggregate amount of approximately $1,044,000 and $355,000, respectively. At
April 30, 2014, accounts receivable included $276,000 due from Maorion and $34,000 was payable to
Marion.

On October 22, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement with respect to its licensing of
rubidium cscillator production technology to Morion. The agreement requires the Company to supply
production equipment and partz and to provide training to Morion emplovees to enable Morion to achieve
certain kevels of volume production of rubidium cecillators. Morion will pay the Company approximately
32.7 million for the license, the equipment, parts and training, plus 5% rovalties on third party sales. Fora
S-vear pericd following an initial production run, the Company commitz to purchase from Maorion a
minimum of approximately 3400000 worth of rubidium oscillators per year although Morion is not
obligated to sell that amount o the Company. In MNovember 2012, Morion paid the Company a $925,000
deposit under the agreement which amount had been recorded on the Company's balance sheet as
deferred revenue. In October 2013, after amending the original document to clanfy certain billing events,
the Company invoiced Morion for the equipment, cerlain component parts for the production of rubidium
oscillators, training of certain Moron employees and transfer of the production technology and license o
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Morion. Accordingly, during the year ended April 30, 2014, the Company recorded revenues of 3500,000
for the technology transfer, training and sale of partz and recognized a gain of approximately $736,000
upon the sake of fully-depreciated equipment. The $925,000 deposit previously recorded as deferred
revenue is included in these revenues and gain.  Additional revenues under the agreement will be
recorded after the Company provides further on-zite fraining for Morion perzonnel, delivers more
component parts and cbiains relief from certain U.S. Government imitations relating to the sales of items
i be manufaciured under the license. The United Siates Depardment of Stale has approved the
technology transfer called for under the agreement.

11, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Dwring fiscal year 2004, the Company acquired FEI-Zyfer, Inc. ("FEI-Zyfer’). This acquisition
resulted in the recording of $218,000 in goodwill. In February 2012, the Company acguired FEI-Elcom
resulting in the recording of goodwill in the amount of $388,000 plus other intangible assets with a value
of 3275,000. Management has determined thal goodwill is not impaired as of Aprl 30, 2074 and 2013
The other intangible asset will be amortized over a three-year period from the date of acquisition.
Amortization expense for the years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013 was approximately $81,000 each
year,

12. Employee Benefif Plans
Profit Sharing Plan:

The Company provides itz U.S -based employeas with a profit sharing plan and trusl under seclion
401(k) of the Internal Revenua Code. This plan allows all eligible employess 1o defer a portion of thair
income through voluntary confributions to the plan. In accordance with the provisions of the plan, the
Company can make dizcretionary matching contributions in the form of cash or common stock. For the
yvears ended April 30, 2014 and 2013, the Company confributed 41,775 and 52,715 shares of common
slock, respectively. The approximate value of these shares at the date of confribution was 3466 000 in
fizcal year 2014 and $456,000 in fiscal year 2013. Confributed shares are drawn from the Company’s
common stock held in reasury and are removed at the Company’s original cost of acquisition of such
shares on a specific identification basis. In addition to changes in the treasury stock accounts, during
fizcal years 2014 and 2013, such transaclions increased additional paid in capital by $277.000 and
214,000, respectively. Az of April 30, 2014, the profit zharing plan holds an aggregate of 464,652
shares of the Company's common stock allocated to the accounts of the individual paricipants.

Income Incentive Pool:

The Company maintains incentive bonus programs for certain employees which are based on
operating profitz of the individual subsidiaries to which the employees are assigned. The Company also
adoplaed a plan for the President and Chief Executive Officar of the Company, which formula is basad on
consolidated pre-tax profits. The Company charged approximately $1.23 million and $1.6 milion to selling
and administrative expenses under these plans for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Employee Stock Plans:

The Company has various siock plans, some of which have been approved by the Company’s
stockholders, for key management employees, including officers and directors who are employees,
certain consuliants and independent members of the Board of Directors, The plans are Mongualified
Siock Options ("NQS0T) plans, Incenfive Siock Option (T1307) plans and Siock Appreciation Rights
"3ARS"). Under these plans, oplions or SARS are granted at the discrefion of the Stock Oplion
Commiltes al an exercise price nof less than the fair market value of the Company's common stock on
the date of grani.

Typically, options and SARS ves! over a four-yvear period from the date of grant. The oplions and
SARS expire ten years after the date of grant and are subject to cerlain restriclions on transferability of
the shares obtained on exercise. As of April 30, 2012, a consultant, who is the son of the Company’s

president, had been granied oplicns to purchase 56,625 shares of Company stock under NQSO plans at
a waighled average exercise price of 35.60. During the years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013, tha
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consultant elected cashless exercises of 17,500 shares at an exercise price of $6,67 (resulting in a net
izsuance of 7,276 shares) and 19,125 shares at an exercize price of $3.50 per share (resulling in a nat
issuance of 11,011 shares), respectively, The remaining 20,000 options are ouistanding and exercisable
at an exercize price of $6.67. The oplions expire one year after the termination of the consulling
agreement which has no expiration date. As of April 20, 2014, eligible employvess had been granted
options o purchase approximalely 172,500 shares of Company slock under |30 plans, of which
approximately 95,000 options with a weighted average exercise price of $13.15 are both outstanding and
exgrcizsable. The Company provides oplion holders the opporiunity o exercise stock oplions either by
paying the exercise price for the shares or fo do a cashless exercise whereby the individual receives the
net number of shares of stock equal in value to the exercizsed number of shares times the difference
between the current market value of the Company’s stock and the exercise price, During the yvear endad
April 30, 2014, employees exercized [S0s for 77,500 shares of Company stock choosing to do 20 in
cashless exercises. Such cashless exercises of stock oplions under 120 and NQS0 plans, including the
consultant shares above, aggregated 95,000 shares. Accordingly, the Company issued 14,828 shares on
exercise and retumed 80,172 shares o the pool of available shares which may be used for future grants.
Az of April 30, 2014, eligible employees and directors have been granted SARS based on approximately
1,711,000 shares of Company siock, of which approximately 1,608,000 shares are outstanding and
approximately 1,028,000 shares with a weighled average exercise price of 38.01 are exercisable. When
the 3ARS become exercisable, the Company will settle the SARS by issuing to exercising recipients the
number of shares of stock equal to the appreciated value of the Company’s stock bebween the grant date
and exercise date. At the time of exercise, the quaniity of shares under the 3ARS grant equal to the
exercise value divided by the then markel value of the shares will be returned o the pool of available
shares for future grant under the Company's siock plan. During the year ended April 30, 2014,
employess exercized SARS representing 101,000 shares of Company stock and received 50 558 shares
of Company stock., The 50,444 share difference was refumed to the pool of available shares and may be
ugsed for fulure grants.

The excess of the consideration received over the par value of the commion stock or cost of treasury
stock issued under both types of option plans is recognized as an increase in additional paid-in capital.

The following table summarizes information about stock oplion aclivity for the vears ended April 30:
Stock Opt | Stock 2 intion Riaht
Weighted Average

Weighted- Remaining
Average Contractual Apggregate
Shares Exgrgise Price Tgrm Intrings: Value
Outstanding — April 30, 2012 1,629,700 $7.05 6.4 years
Granted 209,000 a.62
Exercisad (113,075) 563
Expared or Canceled {17,000} 518
Outstanding — April 30, 2013 1,708,625 $8.23 6.1 years
Granted 212,000 1030
Exercized (196, 000) 7.6
Expired or Cancelad {2,000} 10,08
Outstanding — April 30, 2014 1.722 825  8.60 6.0 years 3,013,368
Exercisable 1142750 3842 4.8 years $ 2,064,438

Aoailable for fulure grants 5,816

Az of Aprl 30, 2014, tolal unrecognized compensalion cost related o nonvested options and stock
appreciation rights under the plans was approximately $2,016,000. These costs are expected to be
recognized over a waighted average period of 2.5 years.

Dwring the years ended April 20, 2014 and 2013, 268,875 and 254,813 shares, respectively, vested,
the fair value of which was approximately $983,000 and $847 000, respactively. The weighted average

K12



FREQUENCY ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued

grant date fair value of stock appreciation rights granied during the yvears ended April 30, 2074 and 2013,
ware approximately 34.57 and 3416, respectively.

Stock-based compensalion costs capitalized as pard of work in process inventory or incluedad in the
cost of sales of programs on which the Company recognizes revenue under the percentage of complation
method were approximately $426,000 and $410,000 for the years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013,
respactively. Selling and administrative expenses include stock-based compensalion expensza of
approximately $676,000 and $537,000 for the years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively

The Company classifies cash flows resulting from the lax benefits from tax deductions recognized
upon the exercise of stock oplions or SARS (1ax benefits) as financing cash flows. For the years ended
April 30, 2014 and 2013, the Company realized $182,000 and $152,000 respactively, of lax banefits from
the exercize of stock options and SARS.

Independent Contractor Stock Option Plan:

The Company had an Independent Contractor Stock Option Plan under which up to 350,000 shares
could be granted. This plan was terminated in fiscal year 2008, An Independent Contractor Stock Oplion
Committee determined to whom oplions may be granted from among eligible participants, the timing and
duration of oplion grants, the oplion price, and the number of shares of common stock subject to each
option. Options were granted o cerain independent confractors at a price equal to the then fair market
valug of the Company's common stock, The oplions were exercisable over specified perods per terms of
the individual agreements. No compenzation expense was recorded during the years ended April 30,
2014 and 2013 as no other granis were made in those years and previous grants have been fully
expensed. As a resull of the adoption by the stockholders of the 2005 Stock Award Plan, the
Independent Confractor Stock Oplion Plan was discontinued. Mo additional grants will be made under
thiz plan and the outstanding grant will expire in fiscal year 2015,

Al April 30, 2014 and 2013, options for 30,000 shares, al a weighled average exercise prica of
$14.76, ware issued and outslanding under this plan. Mo other activiies occurred during the two year
pernod endad April 30, 2014.

Restricted Stock Plan:

During fiscal year 1280, the Company adopied a Restrcted Stock Plan which provided that key
management employees could be granted righls to purchase an aggregate of 375,000 shares of the
Company's common stock, The grants, fransferability resiriclions and purchase price ware determined
at the dizcretion of a special committee of the board of directors. The purchase price could not be less
than the par value of the common stock, Transferability of shares is restricted for a fowr-year pericd,
except in the event of a change in confrol as defined. As a result of the adoplion by the Company's
stockhaolders of the 2005 Stock Award Flan, the Restricted Stock Plan was discontinued. Mo additional
grants will be made under this plan. As of April 30, 2014 and 2013, grants for 7,500 shares are available
to be purchased at a price of $4.00 per share.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan/Stock Bonus Plan:

During 1990, the Company amended itz Siock Bonuz Plan to become an Employes Stock
Ownership Plan ("ESOP"). By means of a bank nofe, subsequently repaid, the Company reacquired
561,652 shares of its common stock during fiscal vear 1980, These shares plus approximately 510,000
additional shares issued by the Company from its authorized, unissued shares were sold to the ESOP in
May 1990. Shares were released for allocation to paricipanis based on a formula as specified in the
ESOP document. By the end of fiscal year 2000, all shares (1,071,652) had been allocated to participant
accounts of which 402 378 shares remain in the ESOP.

Deferred Compensation Agreements:

The Company has a seras of agreaments with key employeas providing for the payment of banefits
upon retirement or death. Under these agreements, each key employee receives specified refirement
payments for the remainder of the employee’s life with a minimum paymeant of ten yvears’ banefits o either
the employee or his beneficiaries. The agreements also provide for lump sum payments upon
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iermination of employment without cause and reduced benefits upon early retirement, The Company
pays the benefits out of itz working capital, but haz also purchazed whole life or term life insurance
policies on the lives of cerain of the paricipanis fo cover the oplional lump sum obligations of the
agreements upon the death of the participant. Deferred compensalion expense charged o selling and

administrative expenses during the years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013 was approximately $780,000
and $616,000, respectively.

Life Insurance Policies and Cash Held in Trust:

The whole-life insurance policies on the lives of cerdain padicipanis covered by deferrad
compensalion agreements have been placed in a trust. Upon the death of any insured participant, cash
received from life insurance policies in excess of the Company's deferred compensation obligations to the
estate or beneficiares of the deceased, are alzo placed in the frust. These assels belong to the
Company until a change of control event, as defined in the trust agreement, should occur. At that tima,
the Company iz required o add sufficient cash to the trust so as to match the deferred compensation
liability described above. Such funds will be used to continue the deferred compensation arrangements
following a change of control.

13,  Income Taxes
The income before provision for income taxes consisted of (in thousands):
Year Ended April 30

2014 2013
us. § 7,565 $7.028
Foreign {1.265) (1.942)
$ 6,300 $ 5.086
The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):
2014 2013
Current;
Fedearal $2,180 $ 1,680
Foreign - -
State 230 40
Current provision 2420 1,720
Dafarrad:
Federal (280) (145)
Foreign (103) (585)
State 120 180}
Deferred benefit (263) (810)
Change in valuation allowance __103 490
Total provision 2260 F 1,400

The following table reconciles the reported income fax expense with the amount computed using the
federal statutory income lax rale (in thousands):

2014 2013

Computed "expected” tax expensa 32,142 1,729
State and local tax, net of federal benefit 214 (51}
Valuation allowance on daferred lax assels 103 4380
Foreign losses without tax benefit 222 28
Mondeductible expensas 1889 178
Montaxable Iife insurance cash value increase (151) (168)
Tax cradils (203) (298]
Other itemiz, net, none of which individually

axcaads 5% of faderal taxes at statulory rates (266 (47E)

$ 2,260 $ 1,400
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The components of deferred taxes are as follows (in thousands);

2014 2013
Deferred fax assets:

Employee benefils F 6,860 6,490
Inventony 1,750 1,980
Accounts receivable 870 470
Tax credits T aa0
Other liabilites 240 270

Net operating loss carryforwards 3,130 3,040
Total defierred tax asset 13,320 13,240

Deferred fax liabilities:
Marketable securities 280 540
Property, plant and equipment 1,050 1310
Net deferred tax asset 11,990 11,390
Valuation allowance (2,120) (1,900)
Met deferred lax assets 9870 3 9,490
Met deferred lax assals are comprizad of the following (in thousands):

2014 2013

Gross current assets F 3,600 F 3,890

Valuation allowanoe - -

Current liabilities (380 (T20)

Met current deferred tax assets 3,220 3,170

Gross noncument assets 9,940 g,600

Valuation allowance 2, 120) (1,900)

Moncurrent liabilities (1,170 (1,380)

MNet noncurrent deferred tax assets 6,650 6,320

Met deferred tax assets $ 9870 $ 9,490

The total valuation allowance relates to deferred tax assels of bolth domestic and foreign
subsidiaries. The change in valuation allowance during the vear ended April 30, 2014 was an increase of
F220,000, including a foreign exchange adjustment of 3117,000. For the vear ended April 30, 2013, the
change in valuation allowance was an increase of 3445000 which congisis of the 490,000 deferred tax
provision less a foreign exchange adjustment of $45,000.

At April 30, 2014, the Company has available approximately $3.6 million in net operating losses
available to offset fulure income of certain of its foreign subsidiaries. These loss carnfforwards have no
expiration date. As a result of the acquisition of FEI-Elcom, the Company has a federal net operating loss
carryforward of $5.6 milion which may be applied in annually limited amounts to offset future U.S.-
sourced taxable income over the next 18 years.

The Company has evalualed iz lax positions and has concluded that the tax positions meal lhe
migre-likaly-than-nol recognition threshold as specified under accounting standards. 11 is difficull o predict
whal would occcur to change the Company's unrecognized tax benefils over the next twelve months. The
Company believes, however, thal there should be no change during the next twelve months. The
Company's tax returms for April 30, 2008 and 2007 have been examined by the Internal Revenue Sarvica,
which resulted in no material adjustments. The Company's tax yvears from April 30, 2011 throwgh April
30, 2014 remain open o examination by slate tax authorities and by the Internal Revenue Service.
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14, Segment Informaticn

The Company operates under three reportable segmenis based on the geographic locations of its
subsidiaries:

{1}  FEI-NY = operates out of New York and itz operafions consist principally of precision time
and frequency control products used in three principal markels- communication salallites
(both commercial and U.5. Government-funded); terrestrial cellular telephone or other
ground-based lelecommunication siations and olher componants and systems for the LS.
miilitary.

(2)  Gillam-FE| - operates out of Belgium and France and primarily sells wireline synchronization
and network management systems in non-UJ.5. markets. All zales from Gillam-FEI to the
United States are to other segments of the Company.

(3} FEl-Z2yler — operates oul of California and itz products incorporate Global Positioning
System {GFS) technaologies into systems and subsysiems for secure communications, bath
govemnment and commercial, and other locator applications. This zegment also provides
sales and support for the Company’s wirgling telecommunications family of products,
including US55, which are sold in the United States market.

The FEI-NY segment also includes the operalions of the Company's wholly-owned subsidiares, FEI-
Elcom and FEI-Asia. FEl-Asia functions as a manufacturing facility for the FEI-NY segment with minimal
sales to cutside customers. FEI-Elcom, in addition to its own product line, provides design and technical
support for the FEI-NY ssgment’s satellile business.

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer measures segment performance based on total revenues
and profils generaled by each geographic location rather than on the specific types of customers or end-
users, Conseguently, the Company delermined that the segments indicated above most appropriately
reflect the way the Company's management views the business.

The accounting policies of the three segments are the same as those described in lhe “Summary of
Significant Accounting Palicies.” The Company evaluaies the performance of ils segments and allocates
resources o them based on operating profil which is defined as income before invesimenl incoma,
interest expense and taxes, The European-based director of Gillam-FEI and the president of FEI-Eyfer
manage the assels of these segments. All acquired assels, including intangible assels, are included in
the assets of these two segments.

The table below presents information about reported segments for each of the years ended April 30
with reconciliation of segment amounts to consolidated amouniz as reported in the statement of
operations or the balance shaeatl for each of the years (in thousands):

2014 2013
Met revenues:
FEI-NY 355,772 352,567
Gillam-FEI R e 11,825™
FEI-Zyfer 7.5990 10,523
less intersegment revenues (2,207 ™ _(5,8983)™
Consolidated revenues 71,550 258032
Dperating profit {loss):
FEI-NY 56,403 57334
Gillam-FEI (20" (1,643
FEI-Zyler (B26) {552)
Corporaie (354} __(480)
Consolidated operating profit 54873 54679
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**For fizscal yvears ended April 30, 2014 and 2013, includes Gillam-FEI intersegment sales
of $1.6 milkon and 54.1 million, respactively, to the FEI-NY and FEI-Zyfer segments.
Such zales consist principally of design and development of automatic test equipment for
satellite hardware produclion and manufaciure of assemblies and wunils of a wiraline
synchronization product for ultimate production and zale in the U3, In the Gillam-FEI
segment, these transactions reduced the operating loss in each of the fiscal years. In
addition, during the fourth quarter of fizcal year 2013, Gillam-FEI wrote down $1.4 millicn
of accumulated cosis related to hardware and software design of a product in connection
with the French govermment's smart elecirical grid initiative. Based on zlower than
anficipated rollout of this project, the Company has less visibility regarding the probable
schedule for obtaining production-level orders, which are now anlicipated to occur no
earlier than fiscal year 2015,

2014 2013
Identifiable assats:
FEI-MY {approximataly 53 million in China) & 62069 § 55,508
Gillam-FEI {all in Belgium or Francea) 18,585 18,071
FEI-Zyfar 11,220 10,418
less intersegment receivables (18,819} (18,803)
Corporate 45 496 43,815
Consolidated identifiable assets $119.461 $1038,809
Depraciation and amorization (allocated):
FEI-NY $2,021 $1.892
Gillam-FEI 261 304
FEI-Zyfer 174 202
Corporate 15 15
Consolidated depreciation and amaortization expense 52,471 52413
Maijor Customers

The Company's products are sold to both commercial and governmental customers. For the years
ended April 20, 2014 and 2013, approximately 54% and 62% respectively, of the Company's sales were
made under contracts to the LS. Government or subcontracts for U.S. Government end-use,

In fiscal year 2014, =zales o two customers of the FEI-NY segment aggregated $29.4 millicn or 53%
of that segment's total =ales. Each of these customers also exceeded 10% of the Company's
consolidated revenues. During the year ended April 20, 2014, in the Gillam-FEI segment, sales to one
customer exceeded 10% of that segment's revenues. In the FEI-Zyfer segment, one customer accounted
for more than 10% of that segment’'s sales. Mone of the customers in the Gillam-FEI and FEI-Zyfer
segmenis accounted for more than 109 of consalidated revenues,

In fiscal year 2013, sales to three customers of the FEI-NY segment aggregated $34.1 million or
B5% of that segment's tolal sales. Each of these customers also exceeded 10% of the Company’s
consolidated revenues. During the year ended April 30, 2013, in the Gillam-FEI segment, sales to one
customer exceeded 10% of that segment's revenues. In the FElRZyfer segment, two customers
accounted for more than 10% of that segment’s sales. Mone of the cusiomers in the Gillam-FEI and FEI-
Zyfer segments accountad for more than 10% of consolidated revenuas.

The lozs by the Company of any one of these cuslomers would have a material adverse effect on
the Company's business. The Company believes its relationship with these customers to be mutually
satisfactory. Sales to major customers above can include commercial and governmental end users.
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Foreign Sales
Revenues in each of the Company's segments include sales 1o foreign governmeants or o

companies located in foreign counfries. Revenues, based on the localion of the procurement entity and
excluding inlersegment sales, were derived from the following countries:

(in thousands)

2014 2013

France % 8932 5 9527
Belgium 5,719 4,240
Russia 1,046 355
China 492 565
Cthar 2 488 3035
$18677 §17.722

15 Dther Comprehensive Income (Loss)

In fizscal year 2014, the Company adopted guidance izsued by the FASB that requires additional
dizclosure related to the impact of reclassification adjustments out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive

Income (ADCI) on net income. Changes in ADCI by component and reclazsifications out of ACCI are
as follows (in thousands):

Change in Foreign
Market Value Currency
of Marketable Translation
Securities Adjustment Total
Balance April 30, 2012, net of taxes 3 Bas 33,275 34,170
Items of other comprehansive income (loss)
before reclassification, pretax BB (TBZ) BB
Tax effect (313) - (313)
Items of other comprehensive income (loss)
before reclassification, net of taxes 855 (T82) (227)
Reclassification adjustments, pretax = 47
Tax effect 7 [30) = [30)
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes 025 (782) [257)
Balance April 30, 2013 1,420 2,493 3913
Ilems of olher comprehansive incoma (loss)
before reclassification, pretax (282) B05 213
Tax affect 130 - 130
Items of other comprehansive income (loss)
before reclassification, nel of laxes (162) B05 343
Reclassification adjustments, pretax ™ (36T
Tax effect 125 (242) - (242)
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of laxes (404) 505 101
Balance April 30, 2014 $1.016 b2, 098 34,014

**The reclassification adjustments represent net realized gains on the sale or redemption of
available-for-sale markatable securties thal were raclassified from A0CI o Other income
(expense), nel.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

MNonsa

Item 84 Controls and Procaeduras

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

The Company's management, with the padicipation of the Company’s chief executive officer and chief
financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such
term is defined in Rules 13a-15i2) and 15d-15{e) under the Securilies Exchange Act of 1834, as amended (the
"Exchange Aci™)) as of the end of the pericd covered by this reporl.  There are inherent limitations to the
effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human emor and
the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure confrols
and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achigving their conirol objectives. Based on their
evaluation, the Company’'s chief execulive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that, as of April 30,
2014, the Company's disclosure contrals and procedures were effective,

Management's Annual Report on Intermal Control Owver Financial Reporting

Managemeant of Frequancy Electronics is responsible for establishing and maintaining adeguale internal
control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15() and 15d-15() under the Exchange Act. The
Company's internal control system is designed 1o provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of inancial statements for external purposes in accordance with ganarally
accapled accounting principles. Because of inherent imitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
pravent or detect misstatements.  Also, projeclions of any evalualion of effeclivenass lo fulure perods are
subject 1o the rizk that conlrols may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degres of
compliance with the policies or proceduras may deteriorate.

Managemeant has assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal conirol over financial reporting as of
April 30, 2014, In making thizs assessmenl. management used the criteria established in Intermal Control—
Integrated Framework issued in 1992 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (CO30-1952). Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that the Company's intermal
control over financial reporting were effective as of April 20, 2014,

A material weaknesz is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal contral over financial
reporting, such that there iz a reasonable possibility that a matenal misstatement of the Company's annual or
interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Financial Reporing

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company's registered public accounting firm
regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by the
Company's regisiered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that
permif the Company to provide only management’s repor in this annual repart.

Changes in Intemal Contred Owver Financial Reporting.

Thera were no changes in the Company’s intermnal control over financial reporting (as such term iz dafined in
Fules 13a-15(1) and 15d-15(1) under the Exchange Act) during the vear ended April 30, 2014 o which this report
relatas thal have matenally affecled, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's inlermal conirol
over inancial reporting.

Item 8B Other Information

Mone
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PART NI
Iltem 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Company

The information required to be fumished pursuant to this item with respect to Directors of the Company, in
compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the Company’s code of
ethics is incorporated hergin by reference from the Company's definiive proxy statement to be filed for the
annual meeting of stockholders to be held on or about October 8, 2014. The information required to be
furnished pursuant to this item with respect to Executive Officers is set forth, pursuant to General Instruction &
of Form 10-K, under Part | of this Repor.

tem 11, E ive C :

This item is incorporated herein by reference from the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed for
the annual meating of stockholders to be hald on or aboul Oclober 8, 2014,

Item 12. Security Ownearship of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

This item is incorporated herein by reference from the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed for
the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on or about October 8, 2014,

ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Thiz item is incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed for
the annual meeting of stockhalders to be hald on or about October 8, 2014,

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Thiz item is incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed for
the annual meaating of stockhalders to be hald on or aboul Oclober B, 2014,
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FART IV

Item 15, Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedulas
a) Index to Financial Statements and Exhibits

The financial statements and exhibits are lisied below and are filed as part of this repart.
(1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Included in Part Il of this report:

Page(s)

Report of Independant Registered Public Accounting Firm 23
Consolidated Balance Sheets

April 30, 2014 and 2013 24
Conzolidated Statements of Income and Comprehansive Income

-years ended April 30, 2014 and 2013 25
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

- years ended Aprl 30, 2014 and 2013 28-27
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity

- years endad Aprl 30, 2014 and 2013 28
Motes o Consolidaled Financial Statements 2945

(2) EXHIBITS

Exhibit 21 List of Subsidiaries of Registrant

Exhibit 23 .1 Consant of Indepandent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Exhibit 31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant o
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Exhibit 31.2 Cartification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant o
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Dxley Act of 2002

Exhibit 32 Certification of the Chief Execulive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxlay Act of 2002

Exhibit 101 The following malerials from the Frequency Electronics,

Inz. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
Aprl 30, 2014 formalled in eXlensible Business
Reporting Language (XBEL) (i) Consolidated Balance
Sheals, (i) Consolidated Slatements of Income and
Comprehensive Income, (i) Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows, (iv) Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Stockholers’ Equity and (v} Motes to Consolidated
Financial Statemants

The exhibits isted on the accompanying Index 1o Exhibits beginning on page 50 are filed
as part of this annual report.
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SIGMATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunio duly
authorized.

FREGQGUENCY ELECTRONICS, INC.

E'_.-W ﬁei —

Martim B. Bloch
Frasident and CEQ

By:
Alan L. Miller
Chief Financial Officer
and Secretary/Treasurer

Dated: July 29, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

LRI AP . .
= Chairman of the Board T12a9/14
wﬂnmm |
&" Director Fi2ai4
{’/-" Jgel Gi
1 Diractor 7i20(14
E?:J_.Q ‘gﬂ-&- Director 712914
Richard Schwartz
£ ! President and CEQ T1209/14
Martin B. Bloch (Principal Executive Officar)
Chief Financial Officer 712914
Adan L. Miller and Secretary/Treasurer

(Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
ITEM 15(a)(3)
Certain of the following exhibits were filed with the Securiies and Exchange Commission as exhibits,

numberad as indicated below, to the Registration Statement or report specified below, which exhibits are
incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit Mo. in
this Form 10-K Descrplion of Exhibit MOTE
2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2012, (12}
by and among the Registrant, Elcom Technologias Inc.
and the stockholders of Elcom Technologias Inc. identified
on the signature pages thareto
31 Copy of Cerificate of Incorporation of the Registrant
filed with the Secretary of Stale of Delaware (1}
3.2 Amandment to Cerificate of Incorporation of the
Registrant filed with the Secretary of State
of Delaware on March 27, 1981 (2}
3.3 Amendment to Cerificate of Incorporation of the Registrant
filed with Secretary of State of Delaware on October 26, 1984 (5)
3.4 Amendment to Cerificate of Incorporation of the Registrant
filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware on Oclober 22, 1986 (7}
3.5 Amended and REestated Cerificate of Incorporation of the
Fegistrant filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware on
Qctober 26, 1987 (9
3.6 Amended Cerificate of Incorporation of the Company filed
with the Secretary of State of Delaware on Movember 2, 1989 (9
a7 Copy of By-Laws of the Registrant, as amended to date (3}
4.1 Specimen of Common Stock cerdificate (1}
10.1 Registrant's 1997 Independent Contractor Stock Option Plan (10}
10.8 Employment agreement between Regisirant and Harry Mewman (4}
10.8 Employment agreement between Registrant and Marcus Hechler (4}
10,10 Employment agreement between Regisirant and Charles Sione &)
10.13 Lease agreement between Registrant and Reckson Operating
Fartnership, L.P. dated January &, 1998 (11}
10.16 Registrant’'s Cash or Deferral Profit Sharing Plan and
Trust under Intarnal Revenua Code Section 401,
dated April 1, 1985 (B}
10.21 Form of Agreement concarning Executive Compensation (2}
10,23 Registrant's Senior Executive Stock Option Plan (8)
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Exhibit Mo. in

this Form 10-K Descrplion of Exhibit MOTE

10.24 Amandment dated Jan. 1, 1988 o Registrant’s Cash or

Daferred Profit Sharing Plan and Trust under Saclion 401

of Internal Revenue Code (&)
10.25 Executive Incentive Compansation Plan bebweaan Regisirani

and various employees (&)
21 List of Subsidiaries of Registrant Filed herewith
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

to incorporation by reference of its 2014 audit repord in

Registrant's Form 3-8 Regisiration Siatements. Filed herewith
3.1 Cerification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant fo

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Filed herewith
3.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Filed herewith
32 Cerifications of the Chief Execulive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer pursuant to Section 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Filed herewith
101 The following materials from the Freguency Elecironics, Inc.

Annual Beport on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30,

2014 formatted in eXtensible Businesz Reporting Language

(XBEL): (i) Consclidated Balance Sheets, (i) Consolidated

Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income, (i)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, ([iv) Consolidated

Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity and (v} Motes o

Conzolidated Financial Statements

NOTES:

(1) Filed with the SEC as an exhibil, numbered as indicaled above, fo the registration statement
of Registrant on Form 5-1, File No, 2-28608, which exhibit is incorporated herein by referenca.

2] Filed with the SEC as an exhibit, numbered as indicated above, to the registration statement
of Registrant on Form S-1, File No. 2-7T1727, which exhibit is incorporated herein by referenca.

(3} Filed with the SEC as an exhibit, numbered as indicaled above, to the annual report of
Reagistrant on Form 10-K, File Mo, 1-8081 for the yvear ended April 30, 1881, which exhibil s
incorporated harein by reference,

4] Filed with the SEC as an exhibil, numbered as indicaled above, 1o the registration slaterment
of Registrant on Form S-1, File Mo, 269527, which exhibil is incorporated herain by referanca.

(5] Filed with the SEC as an exhibil, numbered as indicated above, to the annual report of
Ragistrant on Form 10-K. File Mo, 1-8081, for the year ended April 30, 1985, which exhibil is
incorporated harein by reference.

6} Filed with the SEC as exhibit, numbered as indicated above, to the annual report of Registrant
on Form 10-K, File No. 1-B061, for the year ended April 30, 1986, which exhibil is incorporatad
herein by reference.

(7l Filed with the SEC as an exhibil, numbered as indicated above, to the annual report of
Registrant on Form 10-K. File Mo, 1-8061, for the year ended April 30, 1987, which axhibit is
incorporated herein by reference.

8] Filed with the SEC as an exhibit, numbered as indicated above, to the annual report of
Registrant on Form 10-K. File Mo. 1-8061, for the year ended April 30, 1989, which axhibit is
incorporated herein by reference.

) Filed with the SEC az an exhibit, numbered as indicated above, to the annual report of

Registrant on Form 10-K, File Mo. 1-B061, for the year ended April 30, 1990, which exhibit is
incorporated herein by reference.
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(10)

(1)

(12)

Filed with the SEC as an exhibit, numbered as indicated above, 1o the registration slatemsant
of Registrant on Form S-B, File Mo, 333-42233, which exhibit is incorporated herain by
referance.

Filed with the SEC as an exhibil, numbered as indicated above, to the annual report of
Registrant on Form 10-K, File Mo, 1-8081, for the year ended April 30, 1998, which exhibil is
incorporated harein by refarenca.

Filed with the SEC as an exhibil, numbered as indicaled above, to the currenl report of

Registrant on Form 8-K, File No. 1-B0&1, on February 27, 2012, which exhibil iz incorporated
herein by reference.

52



FREQUEMCY ELECTROMICS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

List of Subsidiaries of Registrant

Subsidiary & Name undear
which busi . : I

Frequency Elecironics, Inc,
FEI Communications, Inc,

FEI Government Systams, Inc.
FEI Realty, Inc. (Inactive)
Manitar Corp. (Inactive)

FEI Zyfar, Inc.

FEI-Elcom Tech, Inc.
Gillam-FEI, s.a.

Satel-FEI, 5.a.

Frequency Elecironics, Inc. Asia

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

People's Republic of China
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Delsware
Delsware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delawara
Delaware
Balgium

France

Exhibil 21



Exhibit 23.1

COMSENT OF INDEPEMDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consenlt to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Frequency Electronics, Inc. on
Form 5-8 (Mos. 333-08901, 333-40506, 333140938, 3353-156600, 33342233 and 333-188952) of our repor
dated July 29, 2014 on our audits of the consolidaled financial slatements as of April 30, 2014 and 2013 and for
aach of the years in the two-yvear perod ended April 30, 2014 which repor i included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K 1o be filed on or aboul July 29, 2014.

E larai Ampar. FEL

Eiznerdmper LLP

Mew York, New York
July 29, 2014



Exhibit 31.1
Cerfification
I, Martin B. Bloch, cartify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Freguancy Electronics, Inc.,

2. Baszed on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a maleral fact or omit o
slale a material fact necessary 1o make the stalements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such slatements were made, not misleading with respect to the perod coverad by this repor;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respecis the financial condition, resultz of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other cerifying officer and | are responsible for establizhing and maintaining
dizclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulezs 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) fior the
regiztrant and hawve:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure confrols and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
enfities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b} Designed such internal control over financial reporing, or caused such intermal control over
financial reporing to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparafion of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effecliveness of the regisirani’s disclosure conirols and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this repor based on such evaluation; and

[(d} Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occcurred during the regisirani's most recent fiscal quarer (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has malerially affected, or is reasonably likely fo
materially affect, the registrant’s intemal control over financial reparting;

5. The registrant’s other cerdifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal conirol over financial reporiing, to the regisirant’s audifors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability fo record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Data: July 29, 2014

By: - T
Mariin B. Bloch
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
Cerfification
I, Alan L. Miller, carlify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Freguancy Electronics, Inc.,

2. Baszed on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a maleral fact or omit o
slale a material fact necessary 1o make the stalements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such slatements were made, not misleading with respect to the perod coverad by this repor;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respecis the financial condition, resultz of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other cerifying officer and | are responsible for establizhing and maintaining
dizclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulezs 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) fior the
regiztrant and hawve:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure confrols and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
enfities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b} Designed such internal control over financial reporing, or caused such intermal control over
financial reporing to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparafion of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effecliveness of the regisirani’s disclosure conirols and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this repor based on such evaluation; and

[(d} Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occcurred during the regisirani's most recent fiscal quarer (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has malerially affected, or is reasonably likely fo
materially affect, the registrant’s intemal control over financial reparting;

5. The registrant’s other cerdifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal conirol over financial reporiing, to the regisirant’s audifors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability fo record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 29, 2014

&
By: Qa-rxz )'jlq...ﬂ-’-—
Alan L. Miller
Chiaf Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 306 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification of CEO

In connaction with the Annual Reporl of Frequency Electronics, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for
the yvear ended April 30, 2014 as filed with the Securilies and Exchange Commission on the date heraal
(the “Report”), |, Martin B. Bloch, Chial Executive Officar of the Company, carify, pursuant lo Seclion 18
U.5.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Seclion 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thal:

(1} The Report fully complies with the requirements of Saction 13{a) and 15(d) of the Securilies
Exchange Act of 1834, and

{2) The information contained in the Repor faily presents, in all matenal respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Mﬁ/{/-\ July 29, 2014

Martin B. Bloch
Chief Executive Officer

Certification of CFO

In connection with the Annual Report of Frequency Electronics, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for
the year ended April 30, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date heraal
ithe “Report”), 1, Alan L. Miller, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, cerify, pursuant to Section 18
U.5.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Seclion 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and

(2] The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all maleral respecis, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

l"
Oﬂ-«z ) P July 29, 2014

Alan L. Miller
Chief Financial Officer

A signed onginal of this written statement required by Section 208, or olher document
authenticating, acknowladging, or otherwise adopting the signature thal appears in typed
form within the alectronic version of this written stalement required by Section 908, has
bean provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnizhed o the
Securilies and Exchange Commission or itz stafl upon request.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Officers
Board of Directors ;
Martin B. Bloch
Joseph P. Franklin Prasident, Chief Exacutive fleer amd Direetor
Chawrman of the Beard of Directors
s Joseph P. Franklin
Martin B. Bloch _ Chairman of the Board of Directors
Pregidant, Chief Exacutive  Officer,  Frequency
Elgciromics, ne
" Markus Hechler
S. Robert Foley'" Executive Vice President. President of FE
Admiral, U5, Navy fretired) GOvarmTiment Sysfems, inc, and A2sisTant Secratany
Joel Girsky @ Oleandro Mancini
Pragident, Jaro Elacrranics, e Sanipe Wice Fresident, Business Development

Richard Schwartz

Steven Stra
Eormer Chairman and CEQ of ATE [redired) nﬂ

President, FE-Zyfar

James Davis

) Fresidant, FEI-Elemm Tech
MChasrman- Compensation Cammittes

) i Danial Laonard
EChairman- Audit Commiltes Managing Directar, Gillarm-FET

Leonard Martire
Wice Frazidan!, Pragrem Maniaganienr

Thomas MeClelland
Wice Presioent, Advarced Developrment

Adrian Lalicata
Wica Pragident, AF & Microwave Systems

Alan Miller
Secretary/Treasurer and Chiel Bipancial Officer

Counsel Auditors Transfer Agent and Registrar
Greenberg Trawrig, LLP Eisngrfampar LLP American Stock Transber & Trust Co,
MetLife Bullding 750 Third Avenus 59 Maiden Lane
200 Park Avenua Mew Yook, WY 10017 Mew York, WY 10038
Mew York, MY 10166
Website: Exchange Listing
B NASDAC Global Market
www. frequencysleciromics. com o on Stock
Stock Symbol: FEIM
Form 10-K Annual Meeting
The Form 10-K report included in  Addiional copées of the Form 10-K as Octobar &, 2004, 10000 Ak
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FREQUENCY ELECTRONICS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiary
FEI Communications, Inc,

FEI Govermnment Systems, Inc.

FEI-Elcom Tech, Inc.

Frequency Electronics, Inc. Asia
FEI Realty, Inc.

Giltam-FEI

Satel-FEI

FEI-Zyfer, Inc.

Affiliate

Marion, Inc.

Corporate Headguarters

55 Charles Lindbergh Blvd
Mitchel Field, NY 11553

Location
Mitched Field, NY

Mitchel Field, NY

Rockleigh, NJ

Tianjin, China

Mitchel Figld, MY

Liege, Belgium

Chalon-Sur-Saone,
France
Garden Grove, A

St. Petersburg, Russia

Primary Function

Commercial communication
systems and products

U.5. Government systems and
products

RF Microwave products

Commercial communication
products

Corporate property holdings

Wireline synchronization and
network management
systems

Metwork control products

GPS time and frequency
systems and products and
LS. wireline

synchronization products

Crystals and crystal oscillator
products
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